
Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 

Meeting Agenda 
January 8, 2014 page1 of 2 

 
AGENDA 

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 
PUBLIC NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE*** 
 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER- Cary Baird 
a. Introductions of all Present, Establish Quorum and Approval of Agenda. 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
No vote may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the agenda until the matter itself has 
been specifically included on an agenda as an item upon which action may be taken. (NRS 241.020) 
 

3. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES-Cary Baird   
a. Review and Approve Meeting Minutes of November 16, 2013 (For Possible Action. Action by the 
Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
 
4. OLD BUSINESS 
a. Approve Restoration of $200 Registration Renewal Fee for FY15-All Members (For Possible 
Action. Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
b. Create Quarterly Newsletter-All Members (For Possible Action. Action by the Board on an item may 
be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
c. Discuss Usage of Paypal-Cary Baird (For Possible Action. Action by the Board on an item may be 
to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS  
a. Financial Report-Helen Wright 
b. Registration Renewal Update-Helen Wright 
c. Presentation and Approval of Candidates for Registration in the State of Nevada (For Possible 
Action. Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
-Helen Wright 
d. 2014 Nevada Blue Book-Sandra Antunez 
e. Annual Review of Nevada Specific Research Examination-All Members (For Possible Action. 
Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
f. New Look State of Nevada Website-Helen Wright 

 

 

Brian Sandoval  
Governor 

 
BOARD MEMBERS 
Cary Baird-President 

Sandra Antunez 
Dan Hill 

Dale Doerr 
Ryan Hansen 

 
FIELD INVESTIGATION 

OFFICERS 
Ellis Antunez 
Clair Lewis 

Kreg Mebust 
Donald Naquin 

Rich Shock 
Jack Zunino 

 
DEPUTY ATTORNEY 

GENERAL 
Henna Rasul 

 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Helen Wright 
 

***PUBLIC NOTICE OF MEETING*** 
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF LANDSCAPE 

ARCHITECTURE 
 

Date:  Wednesday, January 8, 2014 
Time:  8:30 AM to 3:30 PM 
Location: Stantec Consulting 

7450 Arroyo Crossing Parkway 
Suite 170 

  Las Vegas, NV 89113 
 
  
 

  



Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 

Meeting Agenda 
January 8, 2014 page2 of 2 

 
6. ENFORCEMENT  
a. Review Open Cases-13-01, 13-02, 13-03, 13-04, 13-05, 13-06, 13-07, 13-08, 13-09, 13-10, 13-11, 
13-12, 13-13. 

  
7.  NEXT MEETING, NEXT MEETING AGENDA ITEMS (For Possible Action. Action by the Board on 
an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
   
8. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
No vote may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the agenda until the matter itself has 
been specifically included on an agenda as an item upon which action may be taken. (NRS 241.020) 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT (For Possible Action. Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, 
amend, or pull or remove the item.) 
 
Please Note: The Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture may address agenda items out of sequence, combine 
the agenda items, pull or remove the agenda items, in order to aid the efficiency or effectiveness of the meeting or to 
accommodate persons appearing before the Board. The Board may continue agenda items to the next meeting as 
needed. (NRS 241.020) 
 
Public comment is welcomed by the Board and will be heard at the beginning of the Board meeting following the Call to 
Order and Roll and at the end of the agenda prior to the adjournment of the Board meeting. Public comment will be limited 
to five minutes per person. The Board meeting Chair may allow additional time to be given a speaker as time allows and 
at his/her sole discretion. Once all items on the agenda are completed the meeting will adjourn. 
 
Prior to the commencement and conclusion of a contested case or a quasi judicial proceeding that may affect the due 
process rights of an individual, the Board may refuse to consider public comment. See NRS 233B.126. 
 
Anyone desiring additional information regarding the meeting is invited to call the Board office at 
(775) 688-1316.  We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled and 
wish to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the Nevada State Board 
of Landscape Architecture, P.O. Box 17039, Reno, Nevada 89511, or call (775) 688-1316, as soon as possible. 
 
The Board may convene in closed session to consider the character, alleged misconduct, professional competence or 
physical or mental health of a person. (NRS 241.030) 
 
All meeting materials are available for download at the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture meeting page of 
the website http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Agendas.htm.  Meeting materials may also be picked up in person at any one of the 
following office locations: 
 

 Office of the Attorney General – Carson City 
100 North Carson Street, Carson City, NV 89701 Telephone: 775-684-1100 Fax: 775-684-1108 
 

 Office of the Attorney General – Reno 
5420 Kietzke Lane Suite 202, Reno, NV 89511 Telephone: 775-688-1818 Fax: 775-688-1822 
 

 Office of the Attorney General – Las Vegas 
Grant Sawyer Building, 555 E. Washington Avenue Suite 3900, Las Vegas, NV 89101 Telephone: 702-486-3420 
Fax: 702-486-3768. 

 

This notice has been posted at the office of the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture; the Board’s Web Page 
www.nsbla.state.us; Office of Hill, Clark and Associates Landscape Architects 
Stantec Consulting, (Las Vegas and Reno), Lumos and Associates, and LA Studio, LLC. 

http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Agendas.htm


 

 

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE  
 

BOARD MEETING  
 November 16, 2013 

 
 

 
Voting Members in Attendance:   
Dan Hill, President of the Board 
Sandra Antunez 
Cary Baird 
Dale Doerr 
Ryan Hansen 
 
 

Non-Voting Attendees: 
Ellis Antunez 
Clair Lewis 
Helen Wright 
 
Members of the Public: 
None 
 

 
 
The agenda for this meeting was posted on November 12, 2013 prior to 9:00 AM in accordance with Nevada Revised Statute 241 in the following 
locations:   
 
The Office of Hill, Clark and Associates Landscape Architects 
Stantec Consulting, Las Vegas and Reno 
The Office of the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
The Office of LA Studio, LLC 
Lumos and Associates 
Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Web site 
Clark County Library-Paseo Verde Branch 
 
 
 
Minutes Transcribed by Helen Wright, Executive Director of the Board 

 



 

 2 

 

Agenda Item Discussion Follow-Up 

1. Call to Order 

a. Introductions of all 
Present 
b. Establish Quorum 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
The November 16, 2013 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Board Meeting 
was called to order by the President of the Board, Dan Hill at 9:30 AM.  It is noted that 
the number of voting members present represented a quorum.  All attendees introduced 
themselves.  The agenda was approved as presented.  There were no interruptions 
during the meeting.  
 

Closed. 
 

2. Public Comment Period 

 
There was no public comment at this time. 
 

Closed. 
 

3. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes 

 

 
The minutes from the August 24, 2013 meeting of the Nevada State Board of Landscape 
Architecture were reviewed and approved by the Board.  The approved minutes will be 
posted on the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture web site. 
 

Post approved 
minutes to the web 
site. 
 

4. Old Business 

 
a. Discuss Restoration of 
$200 Registration Renewal 
Fee for FY15 
 

Board Members considered the restoration of Registration Renewal Fees back to the 
established $200.  Board member, Dale Doerr reported that an investigation of the 
proposal revealed that with the restoration of the former fee, the Board would be in a 
balanced budget situation.  This item will be placed on the January 8, 2014 meeting 
agenda for action by the Board. 
 

Ongoing. 

5. New Business 

a. Financial Report 

The Executive Director reported that the current bank account balance and accounting 
records are detailed in the financial reports provided with the meeting packet.    The 
balance to date is $96,154.58 for all accounts.  In reviewing the Profit & Loss Budget vs. 
Actual Report, it is apparent that the Board has received over 84.1% of its projected 
income, and has spent only 50.5% of its projected expenses.  All invoices to this date 
have been paid.   
 

Informational. 
 

  



Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 

Quarterly Meeting 

November 16, 2013 Draft Minutes 

To be Approved by the Board January 8, 2014 
Page 3 of 5 

 3 

Agenda Item Discussion Follow-Up 

5. New Business (cont.) 

b. Registration Renewal 
Update 

The Executive Director reported that registration packets were sent out on May 1, 2013 
in the new format consisting of 1 sheet on which the renewal card was printed.   
NRS 623A.200-If a holder of a certificate of registration submits to the Board the annual renewal fee, proof and 
information required pursuant to the provisions of subsection 2, or if the Board approves the renewal or 
reinstatement of a certificate of registration pursuant to the provisions of subsection 3 or 4, the Executive 
Director of the Board shall, upon receipt of the applicable fees, proof and information or upon receipt of the 
approval of the Board, issue a renewal card to the applicant, indicating that the certificate of registration is 
renewed for 1 year. The renewal card must bear the seal of the Board and include: 
(a) The number of the certificate of registration; and 
(b) The signature of the President or Executive Director of the Board or a facsimile of that signature. 

Of the 383 applications mailed: 
• 356 paid in renewal fees in full 
• 10 are exempt due to their status with the Board 
• 3 returned their renewal but still owe $10 change of address fee 
• 2 checks were returned by the bank as unpaid 
• 13 remain unpaid 
Follow-up correspondence for each of the delinquent/missing registrations has been sent 
out with an explanation of the consequences of non-registration.  Overall, the Board 
experienced greater success with renewals than in the past years.   On June 20th, 10 
days before expiration, an e-mail was sent to all outstanding registrants reminding them 
that their renewals had still not been received.  This action contributed to far fewer 
delinquent registrations than past years.   
 

Informational. 
 

c. Presentation and Approval 
of Candidates for 
Registration in the State of 
Nevada 

The following were considered for registration pending completion of noted items: 
 

 Rene Bihan-Reciprocity (approved pending return of completed exam and 

payment of $200 registration fee) 

 Jason Harrington-Reciprocity (incomplete, not approved) 

 Salvador Impastato-Reciprocity (approved pending return of completed exam 

and payment of $200 registration fee) 

 Patrick Livingston-Reciprocity (approved pending payment of $75 examination 

fee) 

 Reid Mitchell-Reciprocity (approved pending return of completed exam) 

Registration 
Certificates will be 
issued pending 
completion of 
missing or 
incomplete items. 

  



 

 4 

Agenda Item Discussion Follow-Up 

5. New Business (cont.) 

d. Discuss November 20, 
2013 CLARB “In the Know” 
Opportunity 

Board Members reviewed the November 20, 2013 CLARB “In the Know Opportunity: 
 
Are you interested in pursuing an elected leadership position with CLARB? Do you 
wonder what is expected of a leader and what the experience is like? Would you like to 
better understand the nominations and elections process? 
 

Clair Lewis and Ellis Antunez provided additional information and encouragement to 
meeting attendees about pursuing a leadership role with CLARB.  It is noted that Cary 
Baird was previously elected to the Alternate Region Five Directorship Position during 
the 2013 CLARB Annual Meeting. 
 

Informational. 

e. Select Officers for 
Calendar Year 2014 

Calendar Year 2014 Officers were appointed by the Board as follows: 
• President-Cary Baird 
• Secretary-Dan Hill 
• CLARB Representative-Ryan Hansen 
• Enforcement Representative-Sandra Antunez 
• Communication Representative-Dale Doerr 
 

Closed. 

f. Incorporation of R217-30, 
R142-11 and R147-11 
 

Incorporated R217-13, R142-11 and R147-11 were distributed to Board Members.  Closed. 

6. Enforcement 

a. Review of Current 
Enforcement Cases 

The LCB Quarterly report has been filed. 
The Board reviewed open cases 13-01, 13-02, 13-03, 13-04, 13-05, 13-06, 13-07, 13-08, 
13-09, 13-10, 13-11, 13-12 and 13-13 all for practice without a license. 
 

Ongoing. 
 

7. NEXT MEETING, NEXT MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 

 

The date of the next meeting of the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture is 
planned for January 8, 2014 in Las Vegas.  Agenda items will include: 

 Approve Restoration of $200 Registration Renewal Fee for FY15 

 Create Quarterly Newsletter 

 Discuss Usage of Paypal 

 2014 Nevada Blue Book 

 Annual Review of Nevada Specific Research Examination 
 

Closed. 
 



Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 

Quarterly Meeting 

November 16, 2013 Draft Minutes 

To be Approved by the Board January 8, 2014 
Page 5 of 5 

 5 

 

Agenda Item Discussion Follow-Up 

8. Public Comment Period 

 
There was no additional public comment. 
 

Closed. 
 

9. Adjournment 

 
There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 1:30 PM. 
 

Closed. 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted By: Helen Wright 
Executive Director for the Board, Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
Approved By: Cary Baird, President of the Board, Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
 
 
 



NEVADA STATE BOARD OF LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 

January 8, 2014 
 
a. Financial Update:  
The current bank account balance and accounting records are detailed in the financial reports 
included with this report.    The balance to date is $91,452.15 for all accounts.  In reviewing the 
Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual Report, it is apparent that the Board has received over 86.15% 
of its projected income, and has spent only 59.29% of its projected expenses.  All invoices to 
this date have been paid.   
  
 
b. Registration Renewal Update:  

 357 paid in renewal fees in full 

 10 are exempt due to their status with the Board 

 18 remain unpaid 
Follow-up correspondence for each of the delinquent/missing registrations has been sent out 
with an explanation of the consequences of non-registration.  Overall, the Board experienced 
greater success with renewals than in the past years.   On June 20th, 10 days before expiration, 
an e-mail was sent to all outstanding registrants reminding them that their renewals had still not 
been received.  This action contributed to far fewer delinquent registrations than past years.   
 
 
c. Candidates for Registration in the State of Nevada 
The following have submitted an application for Registration by Reciprocity.  All are missing one 
or more items and are in communication with the Landscape Architecture Board Office to 
complete items. 
 

Harrington Jason Reciprocity Pending Completion of One or More Items 

Livingston Patrick Reciprocity Pending Completion of One or More Items 

Mitchell Danny Reciprocity Pending Completion of One or More Items 

Petersen Bradley Reciprocity Pending Completion of One or More Items 

Lohide Steven Reciprocity Pending Completion of One or More Items 
 
 
d. CLARB In the Know Series 
Join CLARB staff and Julia Lent, ASLA's Managing Director, Government Affairs on 
Wednesday, January 22 at 3:00 p.m. EST for an update on the current state of professional 
regulation.  During the webcast Julia will share the very latest on:  
 
New regulations and their impact on the profession; The deregulation movement and how 
boards can be prepared for potential threats; and Jurisdictions currently under governmental 
review for potential consolidation. 
 
Accessing the webcast is easy -- just follow these instructions.  There's no need to pre-register. 
Simply login and dial in when you're ready to join the webcast. Mark your calendars now and 
we'll "see" you on Wednesday, January 22 at 3:00 p.m. EST / 2:00 p.m. CST / 1:00 p.m. MST / 
Noon PST. 
 

https://mail.state.nv.us/owa/redir.aspx?C=3199d53b73bf4c0cbc94cb9f18eb2806&URL=http%3a%2f%2fcl.exct.net%2f%3fqs%3d24995a5562f4827f1790d0bd41efa299c7a475b21c394c2d8c49d6d75e835286


 7:54 PM

 01/06/14

 Accrual Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Balance Sheet
 As of January 8, 2014

Jan 8, 14

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

CD 5219 - B of A 33,106.73

Checking 4998 - B of A 13,187.44

Petty Cash 58.46

Savings 8524 - B of A 45,099.52

Total Checking/Savings 91,452.15

Total Current Assets 91,452.15

TOTAL ASSETS 91,452.15

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Other Current Liabilities

Payroll Liabilities 2,080.24

Total Other Current Liabilities 2,080.24

Total Current Liabilities 2,080.24

Total Liabilities 2,080.24

Equity

Opening Bal Equity 32,224.00

Retained Earnings 48,938.94

Net Income 8,208.97

Total Equity 89,371.91

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 91,452.15

 Page 1 of 1



 10:25 AM

 01/07/14

 Cash Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 1, 2013 through January 7, 2014

Jul 1, '13 - Jan 7, 14 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income

001 · Application Fees

002 · LAIT ($100) 0.00 100.00 -100.00 0.0%

003 · LARE ($175) 0.00 875.00 -875.00 0.0%

004 · Reciprocity ($100) 775.00 1,500.00 -725.00 51.67%

001 · Application Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 001 · Application Fees 775.00 2,475.00 -1,700.00 31.31%

010 · Exam Fees

011 · Redline Reviewer Fee ($50) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

012 · LARE - Late Fee ($100) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

013 · LARE - Section C & E ($280) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

014 · LARE - Sitting Fee ($100/sectn) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

015 · Nevada Specific Exam ($75) 450.00 1,500.00 -1,050.00 30.0%

016 · Redline Review ($120) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

010 · Exam Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 010 · Exam Fees 450.00 1,500.00 -1,050.00 30.0%

020 · Interest Income 7.44 50.00 -42.56 14.88%

030 · New Registration Fees

031 · New Certificate Fee ($25) 50.00 500.00 -450.00 10.0%

032 · New Licensee Fee - LARE ($150) 300.00 750.00 -450.00 40.0%

033 · New Licensee Fee - Recipr ($150 150.00 2,250.00 -2,100.00 6.67%

034 · New Stamp Fee ($25) 50.00 500.00 -450.00 10.0%

030 · New Registration Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 030 · New Registration Fees 550.00 4,000.00 -3,450.00 13.75%

040 · Registration Renewal Fees

041 · Reinstatement Fee ($300) 300.00 300.00 0.00 100.0%

042 · Renewal Delinquency Fee ($50) 610.00 1,000.00 -390.00 61.0%

043 · Renewal Fee LA ($150) 52,976.50 55,500.00 -2,523.50 95.45%

044 · Renewal Fee LAIT ($100) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

 Page 1 of 5



 10:25 AM

 01/07/14

 Cash Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 1, 2013 through January 7, 2014

Jul 1, '13 - Jan 7, 14 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

040 · Registration Renewal Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 040 · Registration Renewal Fees 53,886.50 56,800.00 -2,913.50 94.87%

050 · Other Income

Returned Check Fees ($25) 0.00 50.00 -50.00 0.0%

051 · Address Change ($10) 430.00 250.00 180.00 172.0%

052 · Blue Book 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

053 · Electronic/Replacemt Stamp $25 19.99 19.99 0.00 100.0%

054 · Enforcement Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

050 · Other Income - Other 5.00 0.00 5.00 100.0%

Total 050 · Other Income 454.99 319.99 135.00 142.19%

Total Income 56,123.93 65,144.99 -9,021.06 86.15%

Cost of Goods Sold

50000 · Cost of Goods Sold 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total COGS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Gross Profit 56,123.93 65,144.99 -9,021.06 86.15%

Expense

060 · Bank Charges 224.00 250.00 -26.00 89.6%

070 · Board Expenses

071 · Board Member Mtg Fee ($80) 640.00 1,440.00 -800.00 44.44%

072 · Meals - Board Meetings 95.97 1,500.00 -1,404.03 6.4%

073 · Travel - Board Meetings 1,031.99 2,000.00 -968.01 51.6%

070 · Board Expenses - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 070 · Board Expenses 1,767.96 4,940.00 -3,172.04 35.79%

080 · CLARB Affiliation Dues 5,485.00 5,485.00 0.00 100.0%

090 · CLARB Conference Expenses

091 · Bd Member Conf Per Diem $80 1,600.00 1,600.00 0.00 100.0%

 Page 2 of 5



 10:25 AM

 01/07/14

 Cash Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 1, 2013 through January 7, 2014

Jul 1, '13 - Jan 7, 14 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

092 · CLARB Representative Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

093 · Conference Registration 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 100.0%

094 · Travel - CLARB 6,986.13 7,000.00 -13.87 99.8%

090 · CLARB Conference Expenses - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 090 · CLARB Conference Expenses 13,986.13 14,000.00 -13.87 99.9%

100 · Education & Training 159.30 0.00 159.30 100.0%

110 · LARE Exam Expenses

111 · Exam Room Rental 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

112 · Proctor Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

113 · LARE Exams ($280) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

114 · Redline & Standard Review $120 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

115 · Redline Reviewer Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

110 · LARE Exam Expenses - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 110 · LARE Exam Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

120 · NCIRC

121 · Board Member NCIRC Mtg Fee $80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

122 · Miscellaneous - NCIRC 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

123 · Travel - NCIRC 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

120 · NCIRC - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 120 · NCIRC 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

130 · Office Expenses

131 · Cellular Telephone 782.98 1,150.00 -367.02 68.09%

132 · DoIT Email & Web 323.62 1,263.67 -940.05 25.61%

133 · Miscellaneous Office Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

134 · NSBLA Stamp 38.98 519.99 -481.01 7.5%

135 · Office Eqmt, Software & Maint 578.82 1,100.00 -521.18 52.62%

136 · Office Rent 3,600.00 3,600.00 0.00 100.0%

137 · Office Supplies 66.44 1,000.00 -933.56 6.64%

138 · Post Office Box Rent 0.00 124.00 -124.00 0.0%

 Page 3 of 5



 10:25 AM

 01/07/14

 Cash Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 1, 2013 through January 7, 2014

Jul 1, '13 - Jan 7, 14 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

139 · Postage & Delivery 0.00 400.00 -400.00 0.0%

140 · Printing & Reproduction 0.00 400.00 -400.00 0.0%

141 · Telephone & Fax Line 71.88 80.00 -8.12 89.85%

130 · Office Expenses - Other 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%

Total 130 · Office Expenses 5,462.72 10,637.66 -5,174.94 51.35%

150 · Payroll Expenses

151 · Enforcement Officer 115.68 1,000.00 -884.32 11.57%

152 · Executive Director 15,562.89 28,990.50 -13,427.61 53.68%

153 · Executive Director - Bonus 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%

154 · Mileage 237.30 400.00 -162.70 59.33%

155 · Nevada Business Tax 0.00 150.00 -150.00 0.0%

156 · Payroll Penalties & Interest 100.72 0.00 100.72 100.0%

157 · Payroll Taxes 1,657.45 2,700.00 -1,042.55 61.39%

150 · Payroll Expenses - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 150 · Payroll Expenses 17,674.04 35,240.50 -17,566.46 50.15%

160 · Professional Fees

161 · Accountant 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

162 · Bookkeeping 1,428.75 2,000.00 -571.25 71.44%

163 · Deputy Attorney General 1,269.92 3,500.00 -2,230.08 36.28%

164 · Legislative Bill Tracker 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

165 · Legislative Counsel Bureau 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

166 · 2013Legislative Session 225.00 225.00 0.00 100.0%

167 · Risk Management 0.00 1,566.83 -1,566.83 0.0%

168 · Temporary Office Help 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%

160 · Professional Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 160 · Professional Fees 2,923.67 9,291.83 -6,368.16 31.47%

170 · Registration Renewal Expenses

172 · Printing Renewal Forms 0.00 100.00 -100.00 0.0%

171 · Mailing Renewal Forms 0.00 200.00 -200.00 0.0%

 Page 4 of 5



 10:25 AM

 01/07/14

 Cash Basis

 Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 1, 2013 through January 7, 2014

Jul 1, '13 - Jan 7, 14 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

170 · Registration Renewal Expenses - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 170 · Registration Renewal Expenses 0.00 300.00 -300.00 0.0%

200 · Publications

201 · Nevada Blue Book 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

200 · Publications - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 200 · Publications 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

66900 · Reconciliation Discrepancies -167.86 0.00 -167.86 100.0%

999 · FY04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total Expense 47,514.96 80,144.99 -32,630.03 59.29%

Net Income 8,608.97 -15,000.00 23,608.97 -57.39%

 Page 5 of 5



A REFERENCE GUIDE FA REFERENCE GUIDE FA REFERENCE GUIDE FA REFERENCE GUIDE FA REFERENCE GUIDE FOR THE NEVOR THE NEVOR THE NEVOR THE NEVOR THE NEVADADADADADAAAAA 
DESIGN AND CONSDESIGN AND CONSDESIGN AND CONSDESIGN AND CONSDESIGN AND CONSTRTRTRTRTRUCTION INDUSUCTION INDUSUCTION INDUSUCTION INDUSUCTION INDUSTRTRTRTRTRYYYYY 

FOR:FOR:FOR:FOR:FOR: 
Building officials, design professionals, contractors and theBuilding officials, design professionals, contractors and theBuilding officials, design professionals, contractors and theBuilding officials, design professionals, contractors and theBuilding officials, design professionals, contractors and the 
publicpublicpublicpublicpublic 

DEVELDEVELDEVELDEVELDEVELOPED BOPED BOPED BOPED BOPED BYYYYY::::: 
Nevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and ResidentialNevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and ResidentialNevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and ResidentialNevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and ResidentialNevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and Residential 
DesignDesignDesignDesignDesign 
Nevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land SurveyorsNevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land SurveyorsNevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land SurveyorsNevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land SurveyorsNevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors 
Nevada State Board of Landscape ArchitectureNevada State Board of Landscape ArchitectureNevada State Board of Landscape ArchitectureNevada State Board of Landscape ArchitectureNevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
Nevada State Contractors BoardNevada State Contractors BoardNevada State Contractors BoardNevada State Contractors BoardNevada State Contractors Board 
Nevada State Fire Marshal DivisionNevada State Fire Marshal DivisionNevada State Fire Marshal DivisionNevada State Fire Marshal DivisionNevada State Fire Marshal Division 
Nevada State Public Works DivisionNevada State Public Works DivisionNevada State Public Works DivisionNevada State Public Works DivisionNevada State Public Works Division 
Nevada Organization of Building OfficialsNevada Organization of Building OfficialsNevada Organization of Building OfficialsNevada Organization of Building OfficialsNevada Organization of Building Officials 

THE BLUE BOOK 

2020202020111114 EDITION4 EDITION4 EDITION4 EDITION4 EDITION 

2014 



For information concerning requirements of these state boards and state organiza-
tions, please contact: 

Nevada State Board of Architecture, Interior Design and Residential Design 
Gina Spaulding, Executive Director 

Main office: 2080 E. Flamingo Road, Suite 120 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 

(702) 486-7300     FAX (702) 486-7304 
(775) 688-2544     FAX (775) 828-4040 

E-mail: nsbaidrd@nsbaidrd.nv.gov     Web site: nsbaidrd.state.nv.us 

Nevada State Board of Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors 
Noni Johnson, Executive Director 
1755 E. Plumb Lane, Suite 135 

Reno, Nevada 89502 
(775) 688-1231     FAX  (775) 688-2991 

E-mail: board@boe.state.nv.us     Web site: boe.state.nv.us 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
Helen Wright, Executive Director 

P.O. Box 17039 
Reno, Nevada 89511 

(775) 530-4602     FAX (877) 297-3823 
E-mail: landscapeboard@nsbla.nv.gov     Web site: nsbla.state.nv.us 

Nevada State Contractors Board 
Margi Grein, Executive Officer 

Southern Nevada office: 2310 Corporate Circle, #200 
Henderson, Nevada 89074 

(702) 486-1100     FAX (702) 486-1190 
Northern Nevada office: 9670 Gateway Drive, Suite 100 

Reno, Nevada 89521 
(775) 688-1141     FAX  (775) 688-1271 

Web site: nscb.nv.gov 

Nevada State Fire Marshal Division 
Chief Peter Mulvihill, P.E.- State Fire Marshal 

107 Jacobsen Way 
Carson City, Nevada 89711 

(775) 684-7501     FAX  (775) 684-7518 
Web site: fire.nv.gov 

Nevada State Public Works Division 
Dennis G. Nolan, Building Official 
515 E. Musser Street, Suite 101 

Carson City, Nevada 89701 
(775) 684-4141     FAX (775) 684-4142 

Web site: spwb.state.nv.us 

Nevada Organization of Building Officials 
Don Jeppson, President 

1001 E. 9th Street 
Reno, Nevada 89520 



2014 Blue Book  •  i 

The information contained in this publication is being provided as a service 
to the public. Although the information contained herein is believed to be 
correct at the time of printing, the Nevada Construction Industry Relations 
Committee (NCIRC) and staff do not assume any liability for errors or 
omissions, whether such errors or omissions result from negligence, accidents 
or other cause. Policies and procedures of the respective agencies are 
subject to change and revision. You are advised to contact the agency in 
question for the most current information. 

This publication is designed to provide information in a highly summarized 
manner with regard to the subject matter covered. It is provided with the 
understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, technical 
or other professional services. If legal or other expert assistance is required, 
the service of competent professionals should be retained. 

Blue Book, 2014 Edition 



ii  •  2014 Blue Book 

TTTTTABLE OF CONTENTSABLE OF CONTENTSABLE OF CONTENTSABLE OF CONTENTSABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................1 

PURPOSE ..............................................................................................2 

DEFINITIONS 
Architecture ............................................................................................3 
Registered Interior Design ......................................................................3 
Residential Design ..................................................................................4 
Professional Engineering ........................................................................4 
Professional Land Surveyor ....................................................................5 
Landscape Architecture ..........................................................................5 
Contractors .............................................................................................6 
Building Officials .....................................................................................7 

PRINCIPAL DESIGN PROFESSIONAL ..................................................8 

ROLES OF DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION PROFESSIONALS .............. 9 
Architects ...............................................................................................10 
Registered Interior Designers .................................................................11 
Residential Designers .............................................................................11 
Engineers ...............................................................................................12 
Professional Land Surveyors ..................................................................13 
Landscape Architects .............................................................................14 
Contractors .............................................................................................15 
Building Officials .....................................................................................17 
Nevada State Fire Marshal Division .........................................................18 
Nevada State Public Works Division .......................................................20 

STAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANS ..................................................21 



2014 Blue Book  •  iii 

STANDARDS FOR BUILDING PLANS ..................................................26 
Drawings .................................................................................................26 
Cover Sheet ............................................................................................27 
Site Plan .................................................................................................27 
Foundation Plan ......................................................................................28 
Floor Plan ...............................................................................................28 
Framing and Roofing Plans .....................................................................28 
Exterior Elevations ..................................................................................29 
Building and Wall Sections ......................................................................29 
Mechanical System .................................................................................29 
Plumbing System ....................................................................................29 
Electrical System ....................................................................................30 
Landscaping Plan ...................................................................................30 
Irrigation Plan .........................................................................................30 
Fire Alarm/Sprinkler System Plan ............................................................31 
Non-Structural Fire and Life Safety Submittal ......................................... 31 
Other Submittals ......................................................................................31 
Deficient Submittal ..................................................................................32 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 
Architects ...............................................................................................33 
Engineers and Land Surveyors ...............................................................38 
Contractors .............................................................................................42 
Landscape Architects .............................................................................45 
Registered Interior Designers .................................................................50 
Residential Designers .............................................................................56 
Home Owners .........................................................................................60 
Miscellaneous .........................................................................................62 



iv  •  2014 Blue Book 



INTRODUCTIONINTRODUCTIONINTRODUCTIONINTRODUCTIONINTRODUCTION 

This manual has been jointly published by the State Board of Architecture, 
Interior Design and Residential Design, State Board of Professional Engineers 
and Land Surveyors, State Board of Landscape Architecture, State Contractors 
Board, Nevada State Fire Marshal Division, State Public Works Division and 
the Nevada Organization of Building Officials, to assist building officials, 
registrants, licensees and the public in understanding the laws governing 
design and construction in the state of Nevada. 

This manual is a guideline intended as a source of basic information and 
does not attempt to address all questions concerning design and construction. 
Items have been taken from the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS), Nevada 
Administrative Codes (NAC), building codes, city and county ordinances, 
board policies and recommended minimum practices and standards. 

The last section of this manual addresses the questions most often asked 
about the subject matter contained in this publication. Since requirements 
may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, it is recommended that the local 
building official or appropriate licensing board be contacted with specific 
questions. 

2014 Blue Book  •  1 



PURPOSEPURPOSEPURPOSEPURPOSEPURPOSE 

The purpose of this manual is to provide building officials, design and 
construction professionals and the general public with a summary and guide 
to key elements of the statutes, regulations and policies governing the 
construction industry in the state of Nevada. 

The regulatory bodies responsible for assembling this manual protect the 
public by assuring their registrants and licensees are qualified to competently 
provide professional design or construction services in their respective 
disciplines. The primary purpose and principal focus of regulatory bodies is 
the protection and benefit of the public. As mandated by the Nevada State 
Legislature, the regulatory bodies protect the public by setting and assessing 
minimum educational, examination and experience requirements for initial 
entry into a profession. The regulatory bodies also enforce laws and regulations 
to rid the professions of incompetent and unethical practitioners. 

The regulatory bodies have a further responsibility to halt unlicensed activity. 
The regulatory bodies possess the authority to investigate alleged violations 
of their respective statutes and regulations, and to either discipline or prosecute 
violators accordingly. 

Building officials protect the public by enforcing building code requirements. 
Through the plans examination and inspection process, building officials 
ensure compliance with building codes, local codes and ordinances. Building 
officials have the authority to reject documents as submitted and to withhold 
permits. 

Building officials rely on the state regulatory bodies to assure their registrants 
and licensees are competent to practice. In turn, the regulatory bodies rely 
on building officials to assure only properly registered professionals and 
licensed contractors engage in practice, exempt individuals limit work to that 
specifically allowed by statute, and unregistered or unlicensed individuals or 
businesses are not engaging in illegal practice or contracting activities. 

2  •  2014 Blue Book 



DEFINITIONSDEFINITIONSDEFINITIONSDEFINITIONSDEFINITIONS 

The Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) define the practices of architecture, 
registered interior design, residential design, professional engineering, 
professional land surveyor, landscape architecture, contractors  and building 
officials  as follows: 

NRS 623: ARCHITECTURE 

623.023  “Practice of architecture” defined. 
The “practice of architecture” consists of holding out to the public and 
rendering or offering to render, services embracing the scientific, esthetic 
and orderly coordination of processes which enter into the production of a 
completed structure which has as its principal purpose human habitation or 
occupancy, or the utilization of space within and surrounding the structure, 
performed through the medium of plans, specifications, administration of 
construction, preliminary studies, consultations, evaluations, investigations, 
contract documents and advice and direction. 

NRS 623: REGISTERED INTERIOR DESIGN 

623.0225  “Practice as a registered interior designer” defined. 
The “practice as a registered interior designer” means the rendering, by a 
person registered pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 623.180, of services to 
enhance the quality and function of an interior area of a structure designed 
for human habitation or occupancy. The term includes: 

1. An analysis of: 

a. A client’s needs and goals for an interior area of a structure designed 
for human habitation or occupancy; and 

b. The requirements for safety relating to that area; 

2. The formulation of preliminary designs for an interior area designed for 
human habitation or occupancy that are appropriate, functional and 
esthetic; 

3. The development and presentation of final designs that are appropriate 
for the alteration or construction of an interior area of a structure designed 
for human habitation or occupancy; 

2014 Blue Book  •  3 



4  •  2014 Blue Book 

4. The preparation of contract documents for the alteration or construction 
of an interior area of a structure designed for human habitation or 
occupancy, including specifications for partitions, materials, finishes, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment; 

5. The collaboration in the completion of a project for the alteration or 
construction of an interior area of a structure designed for human 
habitation or occupancy with professional engineers or architects 
registered pursuant to the provisions of Title 54 of NRS; 

6. The preparation and administration of bids or contracts as the agent of a 
client; and 

7. The review and evaluation of problems relating to the design of a project 
for the alteration or construction of an area designed for human habitation 
or occupancy during the alteration or construction and upon completion 
of the alteration or construction. 

NRS 623: RESIDENTIAL DESIGN 

623.025  “Practice of residential design” defined. 
The “practice of residential design” consists of rendering services embracing 
the scientific, esthetic or orderly coordination of processes which enter into 
the production of a completed single-family dwelling unit; or multifamily dwelling 
structure that does not exceed two stories in height and is composed of not 
more than four units in that structure; and the use of space within and 
surrounding the unit or structure, performed through the medium of plans, 
specifications, administration of construction, preliminary studies, 
consultations, evaluations, investigations, contract documents and advice 
and direction. 

NRS 625: PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING 

625.050  “Practice of professional engineering” defined. 
1. The “practice of professional engineering” includes, but is not limited to: 

a. Any professional service which involves the application of engineering 
principles and data, such as surveying, consultation, investigation, 
evaluation, planning and design, or responsible supervision of 
construction or operation in connection with any public or private 
utility, structure, building, machine, equipment, process, work or 
project, wherein the public welfare or the safeguarding of life, health 
or property is concerned or involved. 



b. Such other services as are necessary to the planning, progress and 
completion of any engineering project or to the performance of any 
engineering service. 

NRS 625: PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 

625.040  “Practice of land surveying” defined. 
1. A person who, in a private or public capacity, does or offers to do any 

one or more of the following practices land surveying: 

a. Locates, relocates, establishes, re-establishes or retraces any 
property line or boundary of any tract of land or any road, right of 
way, easement, alignment or elevation of any of the fixed works 
embraced within the practice of professional engineering as 
described in NRS 625.050. 

b. Makes any survey for the subdivision or resubdivision of any tract of 
land. 

c. Determines, by the use of the principles of land surveying, the position 
for any monument or reference point which marks a property line, 
boundary or corner, or sets, resets or replaces any such monument 
or reference point. 

d. Determines the configuration or contour of the earth’s surface or 
the position of fixed objects thereon by measuring lines and angles 
and applying the principles of trigonometry. 

e. Geodetic or cadastral surveying. 

f. Municipal and topographic surveying. 

g. Determines the information shown or to be shown on any map or 
document prepared or furnished in connection with any one or more 
of the functions described in paragraphs (a) to (f), inclusive, in this 
subsection. 

NRS 623A: LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 

623A.060  “Practice of landscape architecture” defined. 
The “practice of landscape architecture” means to provide or hold professional 
services out to the public, including, without limitation, services for consultation, 
investigation, reconnaissance, research, planning, design, preparation of 
drawings and specifications, and supervision, if the dominant purpose of the 
services is for the: 

2014 Blue Book  •  5 



6  •  2014 Blue Book 

1. Preservation, enhancement or determination of proper land uses, natural 
land features, ground cover and planting, naturalistic and esthetic values, 
natural drainage and the settings and approaches to buildings, structures, 
facilities and other improvements; and 

2. Consideration and determination of issues of the land relating to erosion, 
wear and tear, lighting characteristics, and design of landscape irrigation, 
lighting and grading. 

The term includes the location and arrangement of such tangible objects, 
structures and features as are incidental and necessary to that dominant 
purpose, but does not include the design of structures or facilities with 
separate and self-contained purpose for habitation or industry whose design 
is normally included in the practice of architecture or professional engineering. 

NRS 624: CONTRACTORS 

624.020  “Contractor” synonymous with "builder"; "contractor" defined. 
1. "Contractor" is synonymous with "builder." 
2.   A contractor is any person, except a registered architect or a licensed 

professional engineer, acting solely in his professional capacity, who in 
any capacity other than as the employee of another with wages as the 
sole compensation, undertakes to, offers to undertake to, purports to 
have the capacity to undertake to, or submits a bid to, or does himself or 
by or through others, construct, alter, repair, add to, subtract from, 
improve, move, wreck or demolish any building, highway, road, railroad, 
excavation or other structure, project, development or improvement, or 
to do any part thereof, including the erection of scaffolding or other 
structures or works in connection therewith. Evidence of the securing of 
any permit from a governmental agency or the employment of any person 
on a construction project must be accepted by the board or any court of 
this state as prima facie evidence that the person securing that permit or 
employing any person on a construction project is acting in the capacity 
of a contractor pursuant to the provisions of this chapter. 

3. A contractor includes a subcontractor or specialty contractor, but does 
not include anyone who merely furnishes materials or supplies without 
fabricating them into, or consuming them in the performance of, the 
work of a contractor. 

4. A contractor includes a construction manager who performs management 
and counseling services on a construction project for a professional fee. 



5. A contractor does not  include an owner of a planned unit development 
who enters into one or more oral or written agreements with one or more 
general building contractors or general engineering contractors to 
construct a work of improvement in the planned unit development if the 
general building contractors or general engineering contractors are 
licensed pursuant to NRS 624 and contract with the owner of the planned 
unit development to construct the entire work of improvement. 

NRS 278: BUILDING OFFICIALS 

278.0115  “Building official” defined. 
"Building official" means a person employed by a city or county who is 
charged with the administration and enforcement of building codes. The 
term includes a person appointed to fill the position of building official pursuant 
to NRS 278.570 and an administrative official of the city or county who is 
authorized by the city or county to assume the functions of the position of 
building official pursuant to NRS 278.570. 

2014 Blue Book  •  7 



8  •  2014 Blue Book 

PRINCIPPRINCIPPRINCIPPRINCIPPRINCIPAL DESIGN PRAL DESIGN PRAL DESIGN PRAL DESIGN PRAL DESIGN PROFESSIONALOFESSIONALOFESSIONALOFESSIONALOFESSIONAL 

A principal design professional may be required for any multi-disciplinary 
project submitted to the building official (e.g.: architectural, landscape 
architectural, civil, structural, mechanical, electrical, etc.). The building official 
may accept an alternate point of contact, depending upon the size and 
complexity of the project. The principal design professional is charged with 
the responsibility of coordinating each and every aspect of the design package. 
The principal design professional must be a Nevada registered architect, 
licensed engineer, registered landscape architect, registered interior designer 
or registered residential designer, and must have the authority to coordinate 
all required design disciplines. In addition, the principal design professional 
must perform his role in strict accordance with the statutory provision 
governing his discipline. The principal design professional’s role includes 
the following: 

1. Acts as point of contact for the project team during the design phase to 
ensure dialogue among all participants, such as owners, contractors, 
developers, engineers, architects, registered interior designers, residential 
designers, landscape architects, government bodies and building officials. 

2. Ensures that all elements of the submittal to the building official are 
compatible, coordinated and provide a logical and comprehensive 
document. 

3. Verifies that all elements of the design submitted are complete, and that 
all requirements for calculations and specifications are complete and 
accurately delineated on plans and related documents. 

4. Acts as point of contact with the building official during the governmental 
review process and is responsible for filing proper applications for plans 
and permit approval. Provides for timely response to questions, 
corrections or requests for additional information on any element of the 
design package. 

5. Acts as point of contact for the design team following permit issuance 
and responds to any changes, clarifications or additional information 
that may be required from members of the design team to owners, 
developers, contractors or building officials. 



ROLES OF DESIGN ANDROLES OF DESIGN ANDROLES OF DESIGN ANDROLES OF DESIGN ANDROLES OF DESIGN AND 
CONSCONSCONSCONSCONSTRTRTRTRTRUCTION PRUCTION PRUCTION PRUCTION PRUCTION PROFESSIONALSOFESSIONALSOFESSIONALSOFESSIONALSOFESSIONALS 

The following descriptions of roles are not exclusive, nor are they intended to 
unduly restrict the practice of the professional who is properly registered or 
licensed in the state of Nevada and is practicing within the laws and regulations 
governing his profession or industry. 

The Nevada Revised Statutes recognize that certain areas of expertise are 
common to registrants or licensees of more than one of the boards that 
participated in the drafting of this manual. That recognition takes the form of 
the following specific exemptions: 

1. Architects registered under the laws of the state of Nevada are exempt 
from the provisions of NRS 623A (Landscape Architects) and NRS 625 
(Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors). Refer to NRS 
623A.070(1)(b) and 625.500. 

2. Contractors licensed under the laws of the state of Nevada are exempt 
from certain provisions of NRS 623 (Architects, Registered Interior 
Designers and Residential Designers) and NRS 623A (Landscape 
Architects), if they provide their own drawings for their own construction 
activities and meet the requirements set forth by the building official. 
Refer to NRS 623.330(1)(d) and 623A.070(1)(c). 

3. Professional engineers licensed under the laws of the state of Nevada 
are exempt from the provisions of NRS 623 (Architects, Registered Interior 
Designers and Residential Designers) if they are licensed to design 
buildings under the provisions of NRS 625. Nevada licensed civil engineers 
are exempt from the provisions of NRS 623A (Landscape Architects). 
Refer to NRS 623.330(1)(c) and 623A.070(1)(d). 

Licensees and registered individuals practicing pursuant to any of the above 
exemptions must provide professional services at the same level of competence 
as a professional specifically licensed to practice in that area of expertise. 
Additionally, drawings and contract documents must meet prescribed 
standards, as determined by the building official. 

ARCHITECTS 

Architects must be concerned with the basic concepts of the full spectrum of 
design considerations when developing both the building and site associated 

2014 Blue Book  •  9 



10  •  2014 Blue Book 

with a project. Architects develop a comprehensive package of design and 
construction documents, taking all aspects of the project into account and 
coordinating various elements prepared by other design team members. 
Architects: 

1. Perform site layout services (e.g.: parking, zoning setbacks, landscaping, 
building layout, site evaluation, layout and development, curbs, gutters, 
sidewalks, streets, grading, utilities, access layouts, traffic and parking 
plans, etc.). 

2. Perform entitlement services, including, but not limited to, rezoning, 
variances, special use permits and feasibility studies. 

3. Are concerned with esthetics and building design, including structural, 
mechanical, electrical and fire protection systems. 

4. Determine building classification (e.g.: code analysis, occupancy, type 
of construction, etc.). 

5. Are concerned with building exiting and life safety considerations (e.g.: 
stairways, exit width, travel distances, corridors, requirements for 
sprinklers, fire ratings, fire walls, separations, fire alarms, smoke control, 
etc.). 

6. Perform programming, interior space planning and design. 

7. Select finish materials, both interior and exterior (e.g.: durability, colors, 
fire ratings, esthetics, etc.). 

8. Provide overall project design coordination, including, but not limited to, 
cost estimating, value engineering, construction administration and 
construction management. 

9. Analyze environmental impacts (e.g.: sound attenuation, quality of living, 
impact on natural surroundings, pedestrian and vehicular circulations, 
etc.). 

10. Perform barrier-free design in compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

REGISTERED INTERIOR DESIGNERS 

The role of the registered interior designer is to evaluate interior space utilization 
needs, prepare conceptual drawings and construction documents for interior 



spaces (provided such drawings exclude load bearing partitions and fire 
rated walls) and specify finishes, furniture, fixtures and equipment all of 
which may be regulated by building, fire and other codes. Registered interior 
designers: 

1. Perform programming, interior space planning and design. 

2.  Select interior finish materials (e.g.: durability, colors, flame spread, 
esthetics, etc.) 

3. Analyze needs and safety requirements, formulate preliminary designs, 
develop presentations of final designs and prepare contract documents 
(including specifications for partitions, materials, finishes, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment) for alteration or construction of an interior area 
of a structure. 

4. Collaborate in the completion of alterations or construction of an interior 
area with professional engineers or architects. 

5. Prepare and administer bids or contracts as the agent of a client. 

6. Review and evaluate problems relating to the design for alteration or 
construction during or upon completion of alteration or construction for 
interior areas. 

7. Provide overall project design coordination, including, but not limited to, 
construction administration. 

8. Perform barrier-free design in compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

RESIDENTIAL DESIGNERS 

The role of the residential designer focuses on residential only; consisting of 
single family dwellings or multifamily dwelling structures that do not exceed 
two stories in height and are composed of not more than four units in each 
structure, and the use of space within and surrounding the unit or structure. 
Residential designers must be concerned with the basic concepts of the full 
spectrum of design considerations when developing both the building and 
site associated with a project. 

Residential designers develop a comprehensive package of design and 
construction documents, taking all aspects of the project into account and 
coordinating various elements prepared by themselves and/or by other design 
team members.  Residential designers: 

2014 Blue Book  •  11 



12  •  2014 Blue Book 

1. Perform site layout services (e.g.: parking, zoning setbacks, landscaping, 
building layout, site evaluation, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, streets, grading, 
utilities, access layouts, etc.). 

2. Are concerned with esthetics and building design, including code analysis, 
civil, structural, mechanical, and electrical, coordination of fire protection 
systems, and energy conservation. 

3. Are concerned with building exiting and life safety considerations (e.g.: 
stairways, glazing, fire walls, fire ratings, fire rated doors, smoke alarms). 

4. Perform programming, interior space planning and design. 

5. Select finish materials, both interior and exterior (e.g.: durability, colors, 
flame spread, esthetics, etc.). 

6. Provide overall project design coordination, including, but not limited to 
construction administration. 

7. Analyze environmental impacts (e.g.: sound attenuation, quality of living, 
impact on natural surroundings, pedestrian and vehicular circulations, 
etc.). 

8. Perform barrier-free design in compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

ENGINEERS 

Engineers must be concerned with the planning and analysis of a wide variety 
of project functions. Engineers: 

1. Perform structural systems design (e.g.: framing systems, foundations 
systems, lateral design, etc.). 

2. Perform electrical systems design (e.g.: power distribution servicing, 
sizing and design, standby power system, audio/visual communication 
system, facility security/fire alarm system, smoke detection, indoor/ 
outdoor illumination system, etc.). 

3. Perform plumbing and mechanical systems design (e.g.: drain, waste 
and venting, water distribution systems, HVAC, smoke removal, boilers, 
process equipment, energy analysis, control systems, fire protection 
systems, etc.). 



4. Design fire protection systems and perform analysis (e.g.: water supply, 
building systems, building exit analysis, suppression, detection and alarms, 
municipal protection, fire protection management, hazard and risk 
analysis, etc.). 

5. Perform soil analysis (e.g.: soils reports, foundation systems 
recommendations, soil stabilization, geotechnical investigations, etc.). 

6. Perform civil works improvements (e.g.: site evaluation, layout and 
development, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, storm drainage, streets, grading 
plans, utilities, access layouts, traffic and parking plans, etc.). 

7. Perform construction administration services (e.g.: cost estimates, value 
engineering studies, contract administration, etc.). 

8. Prepare studies and reports such as Environmental Impact Analysis. 

9. Perform barrier-free design in compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYORS 

Land surveyors must be concerned with providing property line and horizontal 
control, topographic data and construction layout of projects. Land surveyors: 

1. Perform boundary surveys and prepare subdivision plats, parcel maps 
and boundary line adjustment maps. 

2. Perform topographic surveys of existing ground, structures, drainage 
ways, etc., used as a basis for engineering design. 

3. Perform alignment surveys and prepare right of way maps, such as 
those for road and drainage facility projects. 

4. Establish layout of locations, lines and grades for construction of 
roadways, utilities, buildings and any of the fixed works embraced within 
the practice of engineering. 

5. Perform final monumentation of streets and property lines. 

6. Perform geodetic surveys. 

7. Prepare grading and drainage plans for residential subdivisions containing 
four lots or less (parcel maps). 

2014 Blue Book  •  13 



14  •  2014 Blue Book 

8. Provide legal descriptions of property boundaries, easements, rights of 
way, grants, etc. 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 

Landscape architects must be concerned with all aspects of site design 
when planning and developing a project site. Landscape architects: 

1. Perform site planning and design (e.g.: pedestrian and automobile 
circulation, site access, zoning setbacks, parking lot layout, requirements 
for zoning and landscaping, building placement on a project site, site 
analysis and evaluation, site layout for the placement of curbs, gutters, 
sidewalks, streets; prepare site plans, grading plans, landscape plans, 
irrigation plans, etc.). 

2. Review and develop criteria for project esthetics and  visual analysis of 
project sites. 

3. Prepare environmental impact analysis and reports (e.g.: EIR, EIS and 
EIA). 

4. Perform soil sampling and analysis (e.g.: soil fertility, soil composition, 
pH levels, etc.) and provide recommendations for soil amendments. 

5.    Prepare plans for the historic preservation of gardens, land forms and 
natural environments. 

6.    Perform site design and the use of environmental sciences to promote 
the health, safety and the general welfare of the public. 

7.  Design civil improvements (e.g.: site evaluation, site layout and 
development, water detention facilities, sidewalks, curb and gutter, grading 
plans, parking lot layout, site access, etc.). 

8. Prepare erosion control, native revegetation and wetland mitigation plans. 

9. Prepare construction documents that are incidental and necessary to 
the project’s dominant purpose (e.g.: lighting plans, landscape and 
irrigation plans, retaining walls, grading plans, outdoor fountains, site 
amenities and outdoor structures such as trellises, gazebos and decks). 

10.  Perform evaluation for landscape construction work (e.g.: cost estimates, 
         value engineering, contract administration, site inspections, etc.). 



11.  Perform project coordination work (e.g.: coordination of project 
         consultants, preparation of contract documents, bidding, award, etc.). 

12.  Evaluate environmental impacts and open space areas (e.g.: quality of 
         living and integration of streets and buildings into project site, etc.). 

13.   Perform barrier-free site design in compliance with the Americans with 
         Disabilities Act. 

14.  Perform construction administration when the landscape architect is 
         the lead design professional and uses other registrants as consultants 
        to the overall benefit of the project. 

CONTRACTORS 

The role of the contractor involves the building or improvement of structures, 
roads, utilities and other works. Virtually every aspect of commercial, 
residential and public works construction is regulated at the state level in 
Nevada and may require a building permit. Check with your local jurisdiction 
for information regarding exceptions for building permits. 

Owners performing work on their own single family residences for themselves, 
or contracting with licensed subcontractors or general building contractors, 
may be exempt from the license requirements under certain limited conditions. 
Owner/Builders are not allowed to perform work in the public right-of-way 
unless they are properly licensed.  Local jurisdictions may require submittals 
of calculations or designs prepared by an appropriately licensed design 
professional or contractor, pursuant to NRS 623, 624 or 625. 

Contractor License Classifications 

The three primary categories of licenses issued by the Nevada State 
Contractors Board are general engineering, general building and specialty 
contracting. 

A general engineering contractor is a contractor whose principal contracting 
business is in connection with fixed works requiring specialized knowledge 
and skill. 

A general building contractor is a contractor whose principal contracting 
business is in connection with a building or structure. A general building 
contractor shall not perform specialty contracting in plumbing, electrical, 
refrigeration and air conditioning or fire protection without a specialty license. 

A specialty contractor is a contractor whose principal contracting business 

2014 Blue Book  •  15 



16  •  2014 Blue Book 

is the performance of construction work requiring special skill and the use of 
specialized building trades or crafts. 

Contractor Responsibilities 

1. Is licensed to perform in general engineering contracting, general building 
contracting or specialty contracting within the classification for which 
the license is issued, within specified single job dollar limits. 

2. A prime contractor is a licensee who has a contractual relationship directly 
with the owner of the property. He is responsible for his construction 
operations, including the work performed by his subcontractors, and 
supplies or materials furnished by material suppliers. The work must be 
performed by appropriately licensed subcontractors within specified single 
job dollar limits. A subcontract is when the contractor does not have a 
direct, contractual relationship with the owner of the property. 

3. May prepare his own drawings for his own construction activities, within 
the classification for which the license is issued, in accordance with any 
applicable building code or other law, ordinance, rule or regulation adopted 
by the local jurisdiction or state. 

4. Obtains building permits for the work to be performed within the 
classification for which the contractor’s license is issued, in accordance 
with any applicable building code or other law, ordinance, rule or regulation 
adopted by the local jurisdiction or state. 

5. Is responsible for the proper supervision and inspection of the work 
performed pursuant to the scope of the permit(s) as required by the 
building official or governmental agencies. 

6. Is responsible for payment, in a timely manner, to subcontractors and 
material suppliers. 

7. Constructs the work within project plans, specifications, building codes 
and recognized industry standards, and is responsible for the quality of 
the work. 

8. Directs all job-site safety programs, methods of construction and the 
orderly coordination of subcontractors and suppliers. 

9. May perform or supervise those parts of a project within the classification 
for which the license is issued.  A general building contractor may not 
perform plumbing, electrical refrigeration and air conditioning or fire 
protection without a license for the specialty. 



BUILDING OFFICIALS 

A building official, which includes staff of the State Public Works Division 
and the State Fire Marshal Division is authorized and directed to enforce 
provisions of adopted codes and ordinances by regulating and controlling 
the design, construction, use, location and maintenance of all buildings, 
structures and other improvements within his jurisdiction. The state and each 
city and county adopt various technical construction codes and ordinances 
to safeguard life, health, property and public welfare. In this role, the building 
official provides a balance between the necessities of the owner-designer- 
builder team, as creators of buildings, and the protection of the public, as 
users of the buildings. A building official: 

1. Renders interpretations of the codes and adopts and enforces procedures 
and supplemental regulations, in order to clarify the application of code 
provisions. 

2. Provides a general review of proposed projects at a conceptual stage 
and makes recommendations to assist in design development that 
complies with the current codes and regulations. 

3. Reviews plans, specifications, calculations and other related documents 
for compliance with the provisions of technical codes and relevant laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations. Also determines the type and extent 
of information required to determine compliance. 

4. Reviews alternate materials, methods of construction or modifications 
for approval which comply with the intent of the technical building codes. 
Maintains an objective perspective to ensure the designs and building 
meet the intent of codes, while providing safe facilities for the users or 
occupants of the structures. A building official cannot grant a “variance” 
to any of the adopted codes or waive any code requirement. However, 
an alternative that is equivalent to the fire-protection requirements, 
structural integrity and other provisions of the code may be considered 
for approval. 

5. Ensures those documents which are not exempt from being prepared by 
a registered professional have the appropriate Nevada seal, signature 
and date affixed thereto. Submittals under the owner/builder or contractor 
exemption shall be attested to accordingly on the drawings or in the 
permit application. 

6. In the role of protecting the public, advises the appropriate state board of 
suspected improper or illegal conduct of a registered or licensed 

2014 Blue Book  •  17 



18  •  2014 Blue Book 

professional, or of a non-registrant or unlicensed professional performing 
professional services. The building official also reports apparent 
professional incompetence manifested by excessive errors in submitted 
documents, and is required to notify the appropriate state board of 
incomplete plan submittals or plans which have been rejected by the 
building department or public body at least three times (per NRS Chapters 
278, 338, 341 and 477). 

7. Issues permits for construction based upon approval of construction 
documents and/or other data. The issuance of a permit shall not prevent 
the building official from requiring the correction of errors in the 
construction documents and/or other data. The building official is also 
authorized to prevent occupancy or use of a structure where building 
code violations exist. 

8. Performs, or causes to be performed, inspections of construction or 
work for which a permit is required. For the work to proceed, each 
portion of such work shall remain accessible and exposed for inspection 
purposes until approved by the building official. 

9. Requires special inspections for certain structural elements of a project, 
in addition to standard construction inspections, and for work which is 
deemed to involve unusual hazards or conditions. 

10. Issues notices of violation which require correction of work being done 
contrary to the provisions of the codes, or being done without a valid 
permit. If the circumstances warrant, the building official may order work 
to be stopped by written notice. 

11. Authorizes use and occupancy for buildings or structures which have 
been inspected and found to have no violations of the codes or other 
laws that are enforced by the public authority. This includes new or 
remodeled buildings or structures, additions and existing buildings that 
have changed occupancy, use or risk category classification. 

12. Orders discontinuance of the use of any building or structure that is 
being used contrary to the provisions of the codes, or which is structurally 
unsafe or otherwise deemed a hazard. May initiate abatement proceedings 
to cause unsafe structures to be repaired, rehabilitated, demolished or 
otherwise removed. 

NEVADA STATE FIRE MARSHAL DIVISION 

The Nevada State Fire Marshal Division provides non-structural fire and life 
safety plan review and inspections for a variety of projects throughout the 



state, including state-owned and occupied buildings, hospitals and other health 
care facilities, licensed childcare facilities, certain public and private schools, 
and colleges and universities. The Nevada State Fire Marshal Division’s duties 
and responsibilities are outlined in NRS 477.030. 

With the exception of private dwellings, the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division 
functions as the fire prevention authority over multi-family, commercial and 
industrial projects within the fourteen rural Nevada counties. In addition to 
any plan submittal to the local building department, an application may be 
required by the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division. Prior to beginnng design 
work, please contact the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division for requirements 
specific to your project. 

The Nevada State Fire Marshal Division, in an effort to provide quality state 
wide service, has partnered with vaious local agencies through an interlocal 
agreement process, as allowed by NRS 477.030(10) and NAC 477.288. 
Under an interlocal agreement, the Nevada State Fire Marshal retains its 
statutory authority established by NRS 477; however, with oversight fron the 
Nevada State Fire Marshal DIvision, authority is transferred to the local 
agency. Through the interlocal agreement process, the local agency enforces 
the regulations of the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division, which includes 
those codes and standards adopted through NAC 477.281. The interlocal 
agreement allows the local agency to charge additional fees to cover their 
expenses for services provided on behalf of the Nevda State Fire Marshal 
Division. 

Prior to beginning any design work for a project on State of Nevada owned 
property, please contact the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division for 
requirements specific to your project. 

The State Fire Marshal is responsible for establishing the minimum fire code 
for the state. Local jurisdictions may amend codes to be more stringent, but 
they shall never be less stringent than the state minimum code. State fire 
code consists of the International Building and Fire Code with specific 
amendments contained in NAC 477. The State Fire Marshal also provides 
interpretations of adopted codes and regulations for local and state agencies. 

The State Fire Marshal Division also issues permits for the storage and use 
of hazardous materials at businesses and facilities in accordance with NRS 
459 and 477. 

Other duties and responsibilities include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• The testing, certifying and licensing of individuals and businesses 
who perform fire protection industry work and services for fire 

2014 Blue Book  •  19 



20  •  2014 Blue Book 

sprinklers, standpipe, hydrants, fire detection and alarm, other 
extinguishing systems, and fire extinguishers. 

• Conducts fire origin and cause investigations, arson and fraud 
investigation, investigation and enforcement of regulatory violations. 

• Performs fire and life safety inspections of state-owned and occupied 
buildings and certain other occupancies. 

• Provides public information and education related to fire prevention. 

• Coordinates and/or conducts fire and hazardous materials training 
to firefighters and other public safety personnel. 

NEVADA STATE PUBLIC WORKS DIVISION 

The Deputy Manager for Compliance and Code Enforcement serves as the 
building official for all buildings and structures on state property or held in 
trust for any division of the state government (NRS 341.100.9). The plan 
examination and inspection process cannot be delegated. 

The Legislature has mandated that the State Public Works Division must 
supervise all construction of public buildings on state property (NRS 341.141- 
148). The Board of Regents of the Nevada System of Higher Education and 
all other departments, boards or commissions must also use these services, 
unless delegation of authority (NRS 341.119) has been requested from, and 
granted by, the State Public Works Division. The plan examination and 
inspection process cannot be delegated. 

A building permit issued by the State Public Works Division is required for all 
new construction, additions, alterations, remodels, tenant improvements, 
repairs, and/or the change of use and/or occupancy of any state-owned 
building, structure or facility. 

Local codes do not apply on state land with this exception:  Design criteria 
for wind, snow, frost line and seismic loads shall be in accordance with the 
ordinances adopted by the local jurisdiction. 



Documents submitted to building officials for review are required to be stamped 
or sealed, pursuant to the legal requirements for that design professional, in 
order to certify that the registrant or licensee has satisfied his responsibility. 
It is the design professional’s responsibility to prepare complete construction 
documents that comply with all applicable laws governing the construction of 
the intended improvement. Architects, registered interior designers, residential 
designers, engineers, landscape architects and contractors are responsible 
for limiting their design services to their specific area of registration or 
licensure. 

Interim documents submitted to building officials must delineate the limited 
purpose for which they are submitted. Interim documents are all surveying 
maps and records, and all plans, specifications, reports or other documents, 
which are not for the specific purpose of obtaining permits for construction, 
or issued as a formal or final document to clients, public authorities or third 
parties. An interim document must be clearly marked in substantially the 
following manner to show the intended purpose of the document: 

a. “For review only” 

b. “Not for construction” or 

c. “Preliminary” 

Architects, registered interior designers and residential designers are 
prohibited by law from stamping any work that has not been prepared under 
their responsible control. Landscape architects are prohibited by law from 
signing or sealing instruments of service that were not prepared under their 
direct supervision. It is unlawful for a professional engineer to sign or stamp 
any plans, specifications or reports that were not prepared by him or for 
which he did not have responsible charge of the work. 

All surveying maps and records, and all engineering plans, specifications, 
reports or other documents that are submitted to obtain permits, are released 
for construction, or are issued as a formal or final document to clients, public 
authorities or third parties must bear: 

a. The signature of the licensee 

2014 Blue Book  •  21 

SSSSSTTTTTAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANSAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANSAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANSAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANSAMPING AND SIGNING OF PLANS 



22  •  2014 Blue Book 

b. The stamp or seal of the licensee 

c. The date of signing 

d. The expiration date of the license of the licensee 

The following policy is presented as the minimum acceptable standard for 
the sealing, signing and submittal of plans and other technical documents. 

1. Plans: 

a. Architects, registered interior designers and residential 
designers: Each sheet of every set of plans submitted to a public 
authority must contain an original stamp or electronic seal and an 
original or electronic date and signature of the registrant who provided 
the responsible control under which the work indicated on the sheet 
was performed. 

b. Engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects: The front 
sheet of each separate element or professional discipline (e.g.: 
landscape architectural in accordance with NAC 623a.120, structural, 
mechanical, electrical, etc.) of every set of plans submitted must 
contain an original impression seal or wet stamp, with an original 
signature across the face of the seal or stamp. The expiration date 
of the license of the licensee and the date signed must appear below 
the seal or stamp. 

2. Specifications: 

a. Architects, registered interior designers and residential 
designers: When required and submitted, the cover sheet of each 
document must contain an original stamp or electronic seal, the date 
signed and an original or electronic signature across the face of the 
seal or stamp. 

b. Engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects: When 
required and submitted, each document must contain an original 
impression seal or wet stamp, the date signed and an original 
signature across the face of the seal or stamp. The expiration date 
of the license of the licensee must appear below the seal or stamp. 

3. Calculations: Only the front page of each set of calculations submitted 
must contain the following: 

623A.440



a. Architects, registered interior designers and residential 
designers: An original stamp or electronic seal, the date signed and 
an original or electronic signature across the face of the stamp or 
seal. 

b. Engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects: An original 
impressions seal or wet stamp, the date signed and an original 
signature across the face of the stamp or seal. The expiration date 
of the license of the licensee and the date signed must appear below 
the seal or stamp. 

4. Soils  reports:   Engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects: 
An original impression seal or wet stamp, with an original signature and 
date, must be placed on the front page or within the body of the report. 
The expiration date of the license of the licensee must appear below the 
seal or stamp. 

5. Other required reports or analyses: 

a. Architects and residential designers: An original stamp or electronic 
seal, with an original or electronic signature and date, must be placed 
on the front page or within the body of the report. 

b. Engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects: An original 
impression seal or wet stamp, with an original signature and date, 
must be placed on the front page or within the body of the report. 
The expiration date of the license of the licensee must appear below 
the seal or stamp. 

6. Professional documents that contain the product of more than one 
professional: Each design professional must seal, sign and date the 
document, and add a notation clearly specifying what his seal denotes. 
For engineers, land surveyors and landscape architects, the expiration 
date of the license of the licensee must appear below the seal or stamp. 

7. Technical reports: Technical reports shall be sealed and signed by a 
registrant or licensee. 

8. Drawings or plans provided by a properly licensed contractor for his 
own construction activities: In a prominent location on the front sheet of 

2014 Blue Book  •  23 



each set of plans, the contractor’s name, license number, license 
classification, license limit and name of the person who prepared the 
drawings or plans must be listed. The original signature of the responsible 
contractor shall accompany this information. In the case of electrical, 
plumbing, refrigeration and air conditioning or fire protection work, the 
signature must be of the Master or Qualified Employee. 

9. For plans prepared by a homeowner: The name of the owner who prepared 
the plans must be listed in a prominent location on the front sheet of 
each set of plans. The original signature of the owner/builder and the 
form required under NRS 278 and NRS 624 must accompany this 
information. 

10. Electronic media: 

a. Details, shop drawings, product descriptions and other product 
information prepared by manufacturers, suppliers or installers of a 
specific product or system may be integrated into documents 
prepared and sealed by registered design professionals. Architects 
may do so provided they are incidental in relationship to the overall 
scope of the project and do not, in themselves, describe spaces, 
elements or systems directly effecting public health, safety and 
welfare. Engineers are not limited to an incidental relationship or by 
spaces, elements, etc. However, in all cases, the design professional 
must accept full responsibility for all information contained which 
becomes a part of the design documents. 

b. Architects, registered interior designers, residential designers, 
engineers, or land surveyors may use computer-generated stamps, 
signatures and dates. Please refer to “Item 1” of this section for 
requirements concerning submittal sets. Drawings that are transmitted 
electronically for official use to a regulatory agency should have a 
computer-generated stamp included in the document. It is the 
responsibility of each registrant to secure his electronic seal to ensure 
it is not affixed to documents not prepared by him or under his 
responsible control. It is recommended but not required that a different 
or contrasting color be used for the stamp and signature to prevent 
duplication efforts by unauthorized individuals. 

c. Landscape architects may use computer-generated stamps on final 
original drawings provided a handwritten signature is placed across 
the stamp. The expiration date of the license of the licensee and the 
date signed must be written below the stamp. Computer generated 

24  •  2014 Blue Book 



signatures and dates may be permitted if all conditions of NAC 625.610 
have been met. Please refer to “Item 1” of this section for requirements 
concerning submittal sets. Drawings that are transmitted electronically 
to a client or regulatory agency should have the computer-generated 
stamp removed from the original file. It is recommended that a different 
or contrasting color be used for the stamp and handwritten signature 
to prevent duplication efforts by unauthorized individuals. 

2014 Blue Book  •  25 



26  •  2014 Blue Book 

Each construction project approved by a building official must be represented 
by complete plans and specifications which clearly show all components 
necessary to comply with code requirements and/or protect the public health 
and safety. The “approved” permit set of drawings serves as official evidence 
that the state, county or city responsible for protecting public safety has 
reviewed and approved building plans prior to the initiation of construction 
activities. 

Plans and specifications submitted to the building official must be of sufficient 
nature to clearly show the project in its entirety with emphasis on the following: 

• Structural integrity 

• Life safety assurance 

• Architectural barriers 

• Building codes compliance 

• Definition of scope of work 

• Zoning compliance 

Details provided in this section of The Blue Book are the minimum 
recommended standards required before the building official shall begin the 
plans examination. Not all of the requirements listed below will apply to every 
project. Additionally, requirements may vary by jurisdiction. 

Additions and applicable projects submitted by registered interior designers 
may not require all of the components listed in this section for plan submittal 
and review for permit. 

DRAWINGS 

The minimum required drawings will depend greatly upon the size, nature 
and complexity of the project. Each sheet shall have a title block with the firm 
name, address and phone number listed (with a space for the design 
professional(s) seal(s), contractor data or owner /builder exemption statement). 

SSSSSTTTTTANDANDANDANDANDARDS FARDS FARDS FARDS FARDS FOR BUILDING PLANSOR BUILDING PLANSOR BUILDING PLANSOR BUILDING PLANSOR BUILDING PLANS 



COVER SHEET 

The cover sheet for each profession shall contain as appropriate: 

1. Project identification, address and location map. 

2. Identification of all design professionals, including the principal design 
professional (that is the professional who is responsible for project 
coordination). All communications shall be directed through this individual. 

3. Deferred submittals, if accepted by the jurisdiction, should be noted on 
the cover sheet of the affected discipline. 

4. Design criteria list: 
a. Occupancy group 
b. Type construction 
c. Location of property 
d. Seismic design category 
e. Square footage/allowable area 
f. Fire sprinklers (if required) 
g. Fire alarm systems (if required) 
h. Height and number of stories 
i. Occupant load 
j. Land use zone 
k. Code editions used 
l. Wind loads 
m. Snow loads 
n. Special inspection program 

SITE PLAN 

The site plan shall: 

1. Show proposed new structures, any existing buildings or structures, all 
property lines with dimensions, all streets, easements and setbacks. 

2. Show all water, sewer and electrical points of connection, proposed service 
routes and existing utilities on the site. 

3. Show all required parking, drainage and grading information (with 
reference to finish floor and adjacent streets). 

4. Indicate drainage inflow and outflow locations and specify areas required 
to be maintained for drainage purposes. 

2014 Blue Book  •  27 



5. Show north arrow. 

FOUNDATION PLAN 

The foundation plan shall: 

1. Show all foundations and footings. 

2. Indicate size, locations, thicknesses, materials, strengths and reinforcing. 

3. Show all imbedded anchoring such as anchor bolts, hold-downs, post 
bases, etc. 

4. Reference soils report for the proposed structure at that site as required. 

FLOOR PLAN 

The floor plan shall show: 

1. All floors, including basements. 

2. All rooms, with their use, overall dimensions and locations of all structural 
elements and openings. 

3. All doors and windows and provide door and window schedules, or other 
required information. 

4. All fire assemblies, draft stops and area and occupancy separations. 

FRAMING AND ROOFING PLANS 

Framing and roofing plans shall show: 

1. All structural members. 

2. The size of the structural members. 

3. The methods of attachment. 

4. The location and materials for floors and roofs. 

28  •  2014 Blue Book 



EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS 

The exterior elevations shall show: 

1. All views. 

2. All openings. 

3. All vertical dimensions and heights and identify all materials. 

BUILDING AND WALL SECTIONS 

Building and wall sections shall show dimension of all heights, materials of 
construction, non-rated and fire-rated assemblies and fire-rated penetrations. 

MECHANICAL SYSTEM 

The entire mechanical system must be shown. It shall: 

1. Include all units, their sizes, mounting details, all ductwork and duct 
sizes. 

2. Indicate all fire dampers where required. 

3. Provide equipment schedules. 

4. Include energy conservation calculations per state of Nevada 
requirements. 

PLUMBING SYSTEM 

The plumbing system shall show: 

1. Points of connection to utilities. 

2. Septic tanks. 

3. Pretreatment sewer systems and water wells. 

4. All fixtures. 

2014 Blue Book  •  29 



5.    Piping. 

6.    Slopes. 

7.    Materials and sizes. 

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM 

The electrical system shall show: 

1. Points of connection to utilities. 

2. All electrical fixtures (interior, exterior and site). 

3. Wiring sizes and circuiting. 

4. Grounding. 

5.     Panel schedules. 

6.     Single line diagrams. 

7.     Load calculations. 

8.     Fixture schedules. 

LANDSCAPING PLAN 

Landscaping plans shall show locations and quantities of all landscape material 
required for construction of the project (e.g.: plant species, mulch types, 
boulders, turf and planter areas, earth contouring, detention facilities, fencing, 
hardscape, edging, etc.). For commercial and industrial projects, local 
governmental entities require a maintenance plan to be submitted. Before a 
Certificate of Occupancy is awarded or a final inspection conducted, local 
entities require a letter of compliance that the landscape and irrigation was 
installed per the approved plans. This letter is to be stamped and signed by 
the landscape architect. 

IRRIGATION PLAN 

Irrigation plans shall show: 

1. Locations and provide product type of backflow prevention device, pumps 
and associated components, controllers, cluster control units, control 
and communication wiring, gate/isolation valves, control valves, quick 

30  •  2014 Blue Book 



coupler valves, sleeving, main line, lateral lines, drip lateral lines and 
irrigation head layout for overhead and drip irrigation zones. 

2. The point of connection, pipe sizes, size of valves and g.p.m./g.p.h. for 
each valve for overhead and drip irrigation zones required for construction 
of the project. 

FIRE ALARM/SPRINKLER SYSTEM PLAN 

Per NAC 477.300(10), the Nevda State Fire Marshal Division has specific 
requirements for those preparing plans for fire alarm or sprinkler sysytems. 
The designer, at a minimum, must be employed by a Nevada licensed 
contractor and possess Level II certification or higher from the National 
Institute for Certification in Engineering Technologies (NICET); or have an 
equivalent certification; or be licensed as a professional engineer pursuant 
to NRS 625. 

The plan submittal shall comply with the applicable National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) design standard, which outlines the requirements for 
system design plans, and the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division application 
process. 

NON-STRUCTURAL FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY SUBMITTAL 

The Nevada State Fire Marshal Division only perofmrs a Non-Structural Fire 
and Life Safety review based on the adopted model codes and standards. 
This review basically covers architectural and fire code prescriptive 
requirements. Structural plans and details are not required for this submittal. 
However, plans may include those portions of the electrical system taht related 
directly to egress or those portions of the mechanical system, which act to 
protect the occupants from the spread of smoke. 

For requirements specific to your project, it is advisable to consult directly 
with the Nevada State Fire Marshal Division while in the design stage. 

OTHER SUBMITTALS 
Structural Calculations 
Structural calculations for the entire structural system of the project shall be 
submitted in conformance with local jurisdiction requirements. 

Specifications 
Either on the drawings or in booklet form, construction components covering 
materials and methods of construction, wall finishes and all pertinent equipment 
must be further defined. Schedules may be incorporated in the project manual 
in lieu of drawings. 

2014 Blue Book  •  31 



Addenda and Changes 
It shall be the responsibility of the individual identified on the cover sheet as 
the principal design professional to notify the building official of any and all 
changes throughout the project and provide revised plans, calculations or 
other appropriate documents prior to actual construction. 

Revisions 
For clarity, all revisions shall be identified with a Delta symbol, date of change 
and the name or initials of the person making the change. Revisions of the 
same date shall have the same Delta symbol, letter or number. The revised 
areas shall be clouded on the drawings and tagged with the corresponding 
Delta symbol. Otherwise, revisions shall be resubmitted as a new project. 

Deferred Submittals 
A deferred submittal is any portion of the design of a building or structure 
that is not submitted at the time of the permit application and will be submitted 
to the building official at a later time. Acceptance of a deferred submittal is at 
the sole discretion of the building official. The deferred submittal items shall 
not be installed until the building official has approved the design and submittal 
documents. Requirements for deferred submittals may vary in each jurisdiction. 

DEFICIENT SUBMITTAL 

It is the responsibility of the principal design professional to verify the work is 
complete, consistent and competent. If the plans do not meet these criteria, 
the building official may take any of the following actions: 

1. Provide a list of deficiencies. 

2. Increase the plan check fee for additional plan review time required due 
to deficiencies. 

3. Return plans unchecked. 

4. Refer the principal design professional to the appropriate state board for 
possible disciplinary action. 

32  •  2014 Blue Book 



FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

ARCHITECTS 

Architect, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada registered 
architect, per NRS 623, unless noted otherwise. 

A-1. Does a set of plans stamped and signed by an architect registered 
in a state other than Nevada meet the requirements for submittal 
in Nevada? 

No. Only design professionals currently registered or licensed in Nevada 
may submit plans to a building department. 

A-2. May an architect overstamp documents prepared and stamped by 
an out-of-state architect for submittal in Nevada? 

No. An architect may only stamp design documents prepared by him 
or under his responsible control. 

A-3. May an owner or contractor make changes to plans prepared by 
an architect? 

No. Changes or modifications to technical documents prepared by a 
registered architect may only be made by that professional, a 
professional meeting the criteria set forth in question A-4, or a building 
official under criteria set forth in question A-5. 

A-4. May an architect make changes to plans prepared by another 
Nevada registered or licensed professional? 

No. An architect may only make changes or modifications to plans 
prepared by another Nevada registrant or licensee under the following 
conditions: 

a. The architect obtains the written permission from the original design 
professional to make changes or modifications to the plans. 

b. The work must be within the scope of his practice. 

2014 Blue Book  •  33 



c. The architect initiating changes to the plans assumes full 
responsibility for those changes and their effects upon the remainder 
of the project. 

d. The changes to the plans must be a separate submittal on the 
architect’s own title block, with his own stamp and signature. 

e. Changes to the plans must comply with applicable state and local 
laws. 

If the architect does not obtain permission to make changes or 
modifications to the plans, he must redesign the project.  The architect 
should be aware of possible copyright issues and may want to contact 
an attorney for legal advice. 

A-5. May a building official make changes to plans prepared by an 
architect? 

A building official may only make minor changes or modifications to 
technical documents prepared by an architect if that architect consents 
and authorizes the changes. 

A-6. May an architect prepare and stamp documents customarily 
prepared by a licensed engineer? 

Yes. Provided that the work is performed in a competent manner, an 
architect registered under the provisions of NRS 623, and who practices 
as permitted by NRS 623, is exempt from the provisions of NRS 625 
(Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors). 

A-7. Do shop drawings have to be stamped by an architect and submitted 
to the building official for approval? 

No. However, there are some instances where shop drawings could be 
used as a part of the construction documents, therefore requiring a 
professional’s stamp. For example, a truss or space frame dimensionally 
shown on the construction document, specified by performance, must 
be submitted to the building department bearing the stamp of a Nevada 
registrant. 

A-8. May an architect stamp site grading and drainage plans as part of 
a submittal for a permit? 

Yes, if acceptable to the authority having jurisdiction, such plans may 
be prepared or stamped by architects, landscape architects, residential 

34  •  2014 Blue Book 



designers or civil engineers. Land surveyors may prepare or stamp 
site grading and drainage plans as long as they are for residential 
subdivisions containing four lots or less. 

A-9. May an architect serve as the principal design professional on a 
multi-disciplined project? 

Yes. Architects, registered interior designers, landscape architects, 
residential designers and engineers may serve as the principal design 
professional as long as they are providing services in conformance 
with their practice as defined in NRS. This role is described in the 
“Principal Design Professional” section of this manual. 

A-10. May an architect stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans in 
the state of Nevada? 

Yes. Landscape architects, architects, residential designers and civil 
engineers may stamp landscaping and irrigation plans in Nevada. 

A-11. May an architect stamp and sign documents prepared by his 
consultants? 

Yes, provided that the documents are prepared under his responsible 
control. 

A-12. May a drafting firm or other unregistered person prepare plans to 
be submitted for a building permit? 

No, unless they are working under the responsible control of a licensed 
or registered design professional, per NRS 623 or 625. 

A-13. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or his 
representative, to perform the services of an architect for work on 
that building without being registered under NRS 623? 

No. 

A-14. Is an architect, who is an employee of a licensed general contractor, 
required to stamp plans he has prepared for his employer when 
the plans are being submitted to the building department under the 
contractors’ exemption? 

No, as long as the architect receives a W-2, and not a 1099, from his 
employer. 

2014 Blue Book  •  35 



A-15. Is an architect, who contracts with a licensed general contractor, 
required to stamp plans he has prepared when the plans are being 
submitted to the building department under the contractors’ 
exemption? 

Yes. 

A-16. Is an architect, who is hired directly by the owner to design a 
single-family residence, required to stamp the plans if the owner is 
pulling the permit? 

Yes. 

A-17. Must each sheet of an architect’s set of plans have an original or 
electronic seal and signature? 

Yes. 

A-18. May an architect seal his drawings with an electronic stamp, 
signature and date? 

Yes. Architects may seal their documents either electronically or 
manually. They may also sign and date by hand, electronically or any 
combination thereof. The date must be the day the drawings were 
issued for printing. 

A-19. Are architects required to seal bid documents? 

No. Per NRS 623.185, only plans, specifications, reports and other 
documents issued by a registrant for official use must be signed, sealed 
and dated. Bid documents are not considered to be for official use. 

A-20.  Is it acceptable for original plans to be in microfiche or electronic 
format? 

Yes. 

A-21. May an architect withdraw as the architect of record? 

The architect may withdraw as the architect of record if he becomes 
aware of a decision made by his employer or client, against the 
architect's advice, which violates applicable federal, state or municipal 
building laws and regulations and which will, in the architect's 
judgement, materially or adverely affect the safety of the public. 

36  •  2014 Blue Book 



A-22. Do drawings prepared by a design professional (architect, 
registered interior designer or residential designer) belong to the 
design professional? 

Yes. Drawings prepared by a design professional have copyright 
protection under federal law and belong to the design professional or 
firm, unless the design professional or firm releases the copyright/ 
intellectual property to the client. 

A-23. May an architect release modifiable CADD drawings to a client? 

Yes. 

A-24. May an architect provide construction management services on a 
project for which he is not the architect of record? 

Yes. The practice of architecture includes construction management 
services (NRS 623.023) Also reference Attorney General Opinion 2002- 
37. 

2014 Blue Book  •  37 



ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS 

Engineer or land surveyor, as used in these questions and answers, is a 
Nevada licensed engineer or land surveyor, per NRS 625, unless otherwise 
noted. 

E-1. Does a set of plans stamped and signed by an engineer licensed in 
a state other than Nevada meet the requirements for submittal in 
Nevada? 

No. Only design professionals currently registered or licensed in Nevada 
may submit plans to a building department. 

E-2. May an owner, contractor or building official make changes to 
plans prepared by an engineer? 

No. Changes or modifications to technical documents prepared by a 
licensed engineer may only be made by that professional or a 
professional meeting the criteria set forth in question E-3. 

E-3. May an engineer make changes to plans prepared by another 
Nevada registered or licensed professional? 

As a general rule, an engineer may not modify original plans without 
first obtaining the written consent of the engineer who prepared the 
original plans. However, if consent cannot be obtained and the 
modification (1) does not adversely effect the integrity of the original 
plans and (2) can be clearly shown to be the work of the modifying 
engineer and not the work of the engineer who did the original plans, 
then the plans may be modified if: 

a. The engineer requesting to make the revisions to the original plan 
documents is employed by the firm responsible for the preparation 
of the original plan documents. 

b. Every reasonable effort has been made to notify the original design 
engineer in writing of the nature and extent of the proposed revisions 
to the plan documents. 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

38  •  2014 Blue Book 



c. Every reasonable attempt has been made to obtain the original 
design engineer’s consent to the proposed revision. 

d. The work is within the scope of the modifying engineer’s practice. 

e. The modifying engineer assumes full responsibility for the revisions 
and their effects upon the remainder of the project. 

f. The revisions to the plans must comply with applicable state and 
local laws. 

g. The modified plans must include a written statement adjacent to 
the signature stamp of the modifying engineer clearly identifying 
the portion of the plans that were modified and that the modifying 
engineer has accepted responsibility for the modification. 

E-4. May a civil or structural engineer prepare and stamp documents 
customarily prepared by an architect? 

Yes, a professional engineer licensed under the provisions of NRS 
625, who designs buildings as permitted by NRS 625 and is exempt 
from the provisions of NRS 623 (architects, registered interior designers 
and residential designers), may prepare and stamp documents 
customarily prepared by an architect. The work must be performed in 
a competent manner. 

E-5. May a mechanical or electrical engineer prepare and stamp 
documents customarily prepared by an architect or engineer 
licensed in a discipline other than their own? 

No. 

E-6. May a civil engineer structurally design a building more than three 
stories in height? 

No. Only engineers licensed as structural engineers may structurally 
design a building more than three stories in height, or more than 45 
feet in height from the bottom of the lowest footing, or a sign or radio 
tower over 100 feet. 

E-7. May an engineer’s calculations be used as plans for construction 
work? 

a. Yes, but only when the document provides a clear description of 
work acceptable to the building official for the work intended. 

2014 Blue Book  •  39 



b. No, when the document presents only engineering analysis and 
does not provide a satisfactory description of the work for 
construction purposes. 

c. No, when amended submittals conflict with the original approved 
description of work. 

E-8. Do shop drawings have to be stamped by an engineer and submitted 
to the building official for approval? 

No. However, there are some instances where shop drawings could be 
used as a part of the construction documents, therefore requiring a 
professional’s stamp. For example, a truss or space frame dimensionally 
shown on the construction document, specified by performance, must 
be submitted to the building department bearing the stamp of a Nevada 
registered engineer. 

E-9. May a licensed land surveyor prepare and submit plot plans? 

Yes, with conditions. Land surveyors may only prepare plot plans which 
provide topographical and related measurement data. Plans which 
include design features for construction must comply with the standards 
of a registered professional. 

E-10. May a civil engineer or land surveyor prepare and stamp site 
grading and drainage plans as part of a submittal for a permit? 

Yes, if acceptable to the authority having jurisdiction, such plans may 
be prepared or stamped by architects, landscape architects, residential 
designers or civil engineers. Land surveyors may prepare or stamp 
site grading and drainage plans as long as they are for residential 
subdivisions containing four lots or less. 

E-11. May an engineer serve as the principal design professional on a 
multi-disciplined project? 

Yes. Architects, registered interior designers, landscape architects, 
residential designers and engineers may serve as the principal design 
professional, as long as they are providing services in conformance 
with their practice as defined in NRS. This role is described in the 
“Principal Design Professional” section of this manual. 

40  •  2014 Blue Book 



E-12. May a civil engineer stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans 
in the state of Nevada? 

Yes. Landscape architects, architects, residential designers and civil 
engineers may stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans in Nevada. 

E-13. May a drafting firm or other unregistered person prepare plans to 
be submitted for a building permit? 

No, unless they are working under the responsible charge of a licensed 
or registered design professional, per NRS 623 or 625. 

E-14. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or his 
representative, to perform the services of an engineer, for work 
on that building without being licensed under NRS 625? 

No. 

E-15. Is it required by regulation that an engineeer or land surveyor 
have a contract with each client? 

Yes. The contract must include the scope of work, the cost for completion 
of the work and the anticipated date for completion of the work. 

E-16. Does an engineering or land surveying firm have to register with 
the state board to offer or perform services in Nevada ? 

Yes. 

2014 Blue Book  •  41 



CONTRACTORS 

Contractor, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada licensed 
contractor, per NRS 624, unless noted otherwise. 

C-1. May a contractor make changes to plans prepared by an architect, 
registered interior designer, engineer, residential designer or 
landscape architect? 

No. 

C-2. May a contractor prepare and submit his own plans to a building 
department without engaging a design professional? 

A contractor may prepare and submit plans within his license 
classification to a building department for his own construction activities 
when all of the following conditions are met: 

a. The project is of a generally small and simple nature and designed 
within the prescriptive standards of the applicable codes; 

b. The plans cover only that area for which he is licensed (e.g.: 
plumbers may not prepare electrical plans, etc.); 

c. The plans are prepared only for that project upon which he is the 
sole legal contractor for the area of work for which the plans are 
intended; 

d. The plans demonstrate a level of technical competence expected 
from a registered design professional; and 

e. The plans are signed by the licensee. 

C-3. May a contractor or homeowner submit mail order plans or plans 
prepared by others and comply with Nevada law? 

No. 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

42  •  2014 Blue Book 



C-4. May a contractor prepare and submit both landscape and irrigation 
plans to a building department for a permit? 

No, unless the contractor is properly licensed and provides the 
construction documents for his own construction activities within the 
scope of his license classification. 

C-5. If a contractor’s license is suspended for lack of qualifier, lack of 
bond or by board action, may he finish a job that is in progress or 
a contract that was signed previous to the suspension? 

Yes, with limitations. A contractor whose license is suspended may 
finish any work in progress. He cannot submit a bid or proposal, sign 
a new contract or enter into a contractual agreement during the 
suspension. 

C-6. May any general building contractor or owner hire unlicensed 
individuals to perform construction work? 

No. All contractors, including subcontractors, must be properly licensed 
contractors in the state of Nevada at the time the work is bid and when 
it is performed. 

C-7. May a general building contractor perform all parts of a project? 

No. A general building contractor shall not perform specialty contracting 
in plumbing, electrical, refrigeration and air conditioning or fire protection 
without a license for the specialty. 

C-8. If a contractor wants to bid a multi-phase project that exceeds his 
license limit, may he bid each phase individually? 

No. The limit is the maximum contract a licensed contractor may 
undertake on one or more construction contracts on a single 
construction site or subdivision site for a single client.  A contractor is 
prohibited from bidding or contracting in excess of the monetary license 
limit established by the State Contractors Board. 

C-9. If a homeowner obtains a building permit under the owner/builder 
exemption, can he then hire a contractor to perform the 
construction activity? 

Yes, if the contractor is properly licensed in Nevada to perform the 
work. This exemption only applies to the construction or remodeling of 
a single-family residential structure occupied, or to be occupied, by 
the homeowner. 

2014 Blue Book  •  43 



 C-10. May a contractor prepare plans and then have the owner obtain 
               the building permit under the owner/builder exemption? 

No. The contractor must apply for the permit, thereby attesting that he 
is properly licensed and responsible for the plans and construction 
activity. Per NRS 623.330(1)(d), a contractor can only prepare plans 
for his own construction activities. 

C-11. If a licensed contractor prepares plans under the NRS 623.330(1)(d) 
and 623A.070(1)(c) exemptions, can he then sell those plans to 
another client for whom he is not the contractor? 

No, the contractor may only prepare plans, with certain limitations, for 
his own construction activities that he is properly licensed to perform. 

C-12. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or his 
representative, to perform the services of a contractor for work 
on that building without being licensed under NRS 624? 

No. 

C-13. Does a “spec building” require a contractor’s license? 

Yes. 

C-14. Is a contractor allowed to perform any work if his license is in an 
inactive status? 

No, the contractor shall not engage in any work or activities, bid to 
contract or contract if his license is inactive. The licensee must first 
return his license to active status. 

C-15. Are local jurisdictions required to verify a contractor’s license 
prior to issuance of a permit? 

Yes. Any city or county which requires issuance of a permit shall 
require a written, signed statement from a licensed contractor that he 
is properly licensed, the number of the license and that it is in full force 
and effect. 

C-16. Are contractors required to include their license number in 
advertisements? 

Yes. Any time a licensed contractor advertises his services, whether 
on paper, on the Internet or over the airwaves, a license number must 
appear. This includes, but is not limited to, letterhead, business cards, 

44  •  2014 Blue Book 



directory listings, contracts, bids, proposals, applications for permits, 
other documents and any form of advertising. 

C-17. Are contractors or subcontractors who work for a homeowner 
on a repair, restoration, improvement, construction or design of 
residential pools or spas required to pull permits under their own 
license number? 

Yes. When engaging in the repair, restoration, improvement or 
construction of residential pools and spas, contractors and 
subcontractors must apply for, and obtain, all applicable permits for 
the project under their license number (per NRS 624). 

C-18. May an unlicensed consultant or advisor assist a homeowner in 
the building of his pool or spa? 

No.  A person shall not, directly or indirectly, perform or offer to perform, 
for a fee, any act as a consultant, advisor, assistant or aide to the 
builder or owner, unless the person holds a contractors license. 

C-19. May a contractor use money received for one specific construction 
project for another construction project? 

No. It is a criminal offense for a contractor to wrongfully divert money 
for a use other than that for which it was received. 

C-20. Is there any exemption for small jobs or repair or maintenance 
work? 

An exemption is allowed for work to repair or maintain property if the 
value is less than $1,000, including labor and materials, is not part of a 
larger project and does not require a building permit. The exemption 
does not include plumbing, electrical, refrigeration, heating or air- 
conditioning work of any kind. The exemption does not apply to anyone 
who is a licensed contractor. 

C-21. May a contractor submit drawings to the building department under 
NRS 623.330.1(d) if the drawings were prepared by the contractor 
or his W-2 employee? 

Yes. Personnel hired on a 1099 basis do not meet the intent of NRS 
623.330.1(d). 

2014 Blue Book  • 45 



C-22. May a contractor enter into a design only agreement with a client 
to prepare the drawings for a project? 

No. A contractor may only prepare drawings for his own construction 
activities. 

46  •  2014 Blue Book 



LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 

Landscape architect, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada 
registered landscape architect, per NRS 623A, unless noted otherwise. 

LA-1. Does a set of plans stamped and signed by a landscape architect 
registered in a state other than Nevada meet the requirements for 
submittal in Nevada? 

No. Only design professionals currently registered or licensed in Nevada 
may submit plans to a building department. 

LA-2. May a landscape architect overstamp documents prepared and 
stamped by an out-of-state architect or landscape architect for 
submittal in Nevada? 

No. A landscape architect may only stamp design documents prepared 
by him or under his direct supervision. 

LA-3. May an owner, contractor or building official make changes to 
plans prepared by a landscape architect? 

No. Changes or modifications to technical documents prepared by a 
registered landscape architect may only be made by that professional 
or a professional meeting the criteria set forth in question LA-4. 

LA-4. May a landscape architect make changes to plans prepared by 
another Nevada registered or licensed professional? 

Yes, with conditions. A landscape architect may revise or change plans 
prepared by another Nevada registrant or licensee under the following 
conditions: 

a. Every reasonable effort must be taken to notify and obtain 
concurrence from the original design professional with respect to 
changes to the original plans. 

b. The work must be within the scope of his practice. 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

2014 Blue Book  • 47 



c. The landscape architect initiating changes to the plans assumes full 
responsibility for those changes and their effects upon the remainder 
of the project. 

d. Changes to the plans must comply with applicable state and local laws. 

LA-5. May individuals calling themselves landscape architect interns or 
landscape designers prepare and sell landscape and irrigation plans? 

No. It is illegal to prepare and sell landscape documents if one is not 
registered or licensed to practice landscape architecture, architecture or 
engineering in Nevada. 

LA-6. May a landscape architect prepare and stamp site grading and drainage 
plans as part of a submittal for a permit? 

Yes, such plans may be prepared or stamped by architects, landscape 
architects, residential designers or civil engineers. Land surveyors may 
prepare or stamp site grading and drainage plans as long as they are for 
residential subdivisions containing four lots or less. 

LA-7. May a landscape architect perform planning services? 

Yes, a landscape architect may prepare site design and master plan 
documents, along with zoning applications, special use permit applications 
and other land use approval documents. 

LA-8. May a landscape architect prepare and stamp site plans that 
incorporate a variety of site amenities and features? 

Yes, a landscape architect may prepare and stamp plans or details that 
include: garden pools, outdoor fountains, waterfalls, retaining walls, 
decorative walls, raised planters, fences, handicapped ramps, outdoor 
stairs/steps, play structures, pedestrian bridges, decks, gazebos, picnic 
shelters, trellises, patio covers and other similar non-dwelling structures 
that are incidental and necessary to a project’s dominant purpose. 

LA-9. May a landscape architect serve as the principal design professional 
on a multi-disciplined project? 

Yes. Architects, registered interior designers, landscape architects, 
residential designers and engineers may serve as the principal design 
professional, as long as they are providing services in conformance with 
their practice as defined in NRS. This role is described in the “Principal 
Design Professional” section of this manual. 

48  •  2014 Blue Book 



LA-10. May a landscape architect design 12-volt (low voltage) outdoor 
lighting systems and small-scale outdoor 120-volt electrical 
systems? 

Yes. A landscape architect may prepare and stamp outdoor electrical 
lighting system plans, as long as the plans are incidental and 
necessary to a project’s dominant purpose. 

LA-11. May a landscape architect plan for and develop a conceptual 
site plan which locates the buildings on a project site? 

Yes. A landscape architect can plan for and establish the relationship 
between the site and its structures, including proposing elevations, 
grading and positioning, for an overall site and landscape theme. 

LA-12. Who can stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans in the 
state of Nevada? 

Landscape architects, architects, residential designers and civil 
engineers may stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans in 
Nevada. 

LA-13. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or 
his representative, to perform the services of a landscape architect 
for work on that building without the benefit of registration under 
NRS 623A? 

No. 

LA-14. May a landscape architect prepare and stamp erosion control/ 
native revegetation plans and wetland mitigation plans? 

Yes. 

2014 Blue Book  • 49 



REGISTERED INTERIOR DESIGNERS 

Registered interior designer, as used in these questions and answers, is a 
Nevada registered interior designer, per NRS 623, unless noted otherwise. 

ID-1. May an unregistered or unlicensed individual (interior designer, space 
planner, kitchen equipment designer, etc.) prepare plans for a building 
permit? 

No. Unregistered or unlicensed individuals are prohibited by law from 
engaging in professional practice, unless specifically exempt by law. 

ID-2. When can an unregistered individual provide design services for the 
selection of interior furnishings, fixtures and equipment? 

A non-registrant can provide design services when the furnishings, fixtures 
and equipment selected are not regulated by any building codes or other 
law, ordinance, rule or regulation governing the alteration or construction of 
a building. 

ID-3. Does a set of plans stamped and signed by an interior designer 
registered in a state other than Nevada meet the requirements for 
submittal in Nevada? 

No. Only design professionals currently registered or licensed in Nevada 
may submit plans to a building department. 

ID-4. May a registered interior designer overstamp documents prepared 
and stamped by an out-of-state interior designer for submittal in 
Nevada? 

No. A registered interior designer may only stamp design documents 
prepared by him or under his responsible control. 

ID-5. May an owner or contractor make changes to plans prepared by a 
registered interior designer? 

No. Changes or modifications to technical documents prepared by a 
registered interior designer may only be made by that professional, a 
professional meeting the criteria set forth in question ID-6, or a building 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

50  •  2014 Blue Book 



official under criteria set forth in question ID-7. 

ID-6. May a registered interior designer make changes to plans prepared 
by another Nevada registrant? 

No.  A registered interior designer may only make changes or 
modifications to plans prepared by another Nevada registrant under 
the following conditions: 

a. The registered interior designer obtains the written permission from 
the original design professional to make changes or modifications 
to the plans. 

b. The work must be within the scope of his practice. 

c. The registered interior designer initiating changes to the plans 
assumes full responsibility for those changes and their effects 
upon the remainder of the project. 

d. The changes to the plans must be a separate submittal on the 
registered interior designers’ own title block, with his own stamp 
and signature. 

e. Changes to the plans must comply with applicable state and local 
laws. 

If the registered interior designer does not obtain permission to make 
changes or modifications to the plans, he must redesign the project. 
The registered interior designer should be aware of possible copyright 
issues and may want to contact an attorney for legal advice. 

ID-7. May a building official make changes to plans prepared by a 
registered interior designer? 

A building official may only make minor changes or modifications to 
technical documents prepared by a registered interior designer if that 
registered interior designer consents and authorizes the changes. 

ID-8. May a registered interior designer serve as the principal design 
professional on a multi-disciplined project? 

Yes. Architects, registered interior designers, landscape architects, 
residential designers and engineers may serve as the principal design 
professional, as long as they are providing services in conformance 

2014 Blue Book  • 51 



with their practice as defined in NRS. This role is described in the 
“Principal Design Professional” section of this manual. 

ID-9. If a registered interior designer and an architect are both 
employed on a project, must the architect have control of the 
entire project? 

No. The provisions of NRS 623 allow for a registered interior designer 
to contract directly with a client as long as the contemplated work 
does not require the services of more that two additional professional 
disciplines (structural, mechanical, electrical, architectural, etc.). 

ID-10. May a registered interior designer undertake a project that 
requires more than two additional professional disciplines? (i.e., 
architect, structural engineer, mechanical engineer, electrical 
engineer, etc.? 

No. An architect who is qualified to offer all design services to the 
public must be hired by the owner to provide and coordinate all 
disciplines other than the interior design. 

ID-11. When a registered interior designer contracts with an owner to 
perform interior design services and other professional disciplines 
of architecture and engineering are involved in the design of the 
work, with whom do these additional professional disciplines 
contract? 

The professional disciplines may contract directly with the owner or 
with the registered interior designer. 

ID-12. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or 
his representative, to perform the services of a registered interior 
designer for work on that building without the benefit of 
registration under NRS 623? 

No. 

ID-13. Is a registered interior designer, who is an employee of a licensed 
general contractor, required to stamp plans he has prepared for 
his employer when the plans are being submitted to the building 
department under the contractors’ exemption? 

No, as long as the registered interior designer receives a W-2, and 
not a 1099, from his employer. 

52  •  2014 Blue Book 



ID-14. Is a registered interior designer, who contracts with a licensed 
general contractor, required to stamp plans he has prepared 
when the plans are being submitted to the building department 
under the contractors’ exemption? 

Yes. 

ID-15. Must each sheet of a registered interior designer’s set of plans 
have an original or electronic seal and signature? 

Yes. 

ID-16. May a registered interior designer seal his drawings with an 
electronic stamp, signature and date? 

Yes. Registered interior designers may seal their documents either 
electronically or manually. They may also sign and date by hand, 
electronically or any combination thereof. The date must be the day 
the drawings were issued for printing. 

ID-17. Are registered interior designers required to seal bid documents? 

No. Per NRS 623.185, only plans, specifications, reports and other 
documents issued by a registrant for official use must be signed, 
sealed and dated. Bid documents are not considered to be for official 
use. 

ID-18. Is it acceptable for original plans to be in a microfiche or 
electronic format? 

Yes. 

ID-19. May registered interior designers undertake a project that 
requires more than two contractors? 

Yes. There is no limitation to the number of contractors a registered 
interior designer may work with on a project; however, registered 
interior designers must contract directly  with the owner and the 
contractors must contract directly with the owner. 

2014 Blue Book  • 53 



ID-20. May a registered interior designer withdraw as the design 
professional of record? 

The registered interior designer may withdraw as the design 
professional of record if he becomes aware of a decision made by 
his employer or client, against the registered interior designer’s 
advice, which violates applicable federal, state or municipal building 
laws and regulations and which will, in the registered interior designer’s 
judgment, materially or adversely affect the safety of the public. 

ID-21. May a registered interior designer design and/or specify fire rated 
assemblies, including, but not limited to smoke barriers, partitions 
and walls? 

No. 

ID-22. May a registered interior designer specify rated doors and door 
frames? 

Registered interior designers are limited to doors and door frames 
for which the required fire-protection rating does not exceed 20 
minutes. 

ID-23. May registered interior designers design and/or specify elevators 
and/or stairs on their drawings? 

No. Registered interior designers may only show the location of an 
elevator and/or stairs on their drawings for "reference" purposes. 

ID-24. May registered interior designers determine the location of 
electrical outlets? 

Yes. 

ID-25. May a registered interior designer prepare permit drawings for 
an outdoor kitchen/BBQ area? 

No. 

ID-26. Do drawings prepared by a design professional (architect, 
registered interior designer or residential designer) belong to 
the design professional? 

54  •  2014 Blue Book 



Yes. Drawings prepared by a design professional have copyright 
protection under federal law and belong to the design professional 
or firm, unless the design professional or firm releases the copyright/ 
intellectual property to the client. 

ID-27 . May a registered interior designer release modifiable CADD 
drawings to a client? 

Yes. 

2014 Blue Book  • 55 



FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

RESIDENTIAL DESIGNERS 

Residential designer, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada 
registered residential designer, per NRS 623, unless noted otherwise. 

RD-1. May a residential designer overstamp documents prepared and 
stamped by an out-of-state architect, interior designer or 
landscape architect for submittal in Nevada? 

No. A residential designer may only stamp design documents 
prepared by him or under his responsible control. 

RD-2. May an owner or contractor  make changes to plans prepared 
by a residential designer? 

No. Changes or modifications to technical documents prepared by 
a registered residential designer may only be made by that 
professional, a professional meeting the criteria set forth in question 
RD-3, or a building official under criteria set  forth in question RD-4. 

RD-3. May a residential designer make changes to plans prepared by 
another Nevada registered or licensed professional? 

No. A residential designer may only make changes or modifications 
to plans prepared by another Nevada registrant or licensee under 
the following conditions: 

a. The residential designer obtains written permission from the 
original design professional to make changes or modifications 
to the plans. 

b. The work must be within the scope of his practice. 

c. The residential designer initiating changes to the plans assumes 
full responsibility for those changes and their effects upon the 
remainder of the project. 

d. The changes to the plans must be a separate submittal on the 
residential designers’s own title block, with his own stamp and 
signature. 

56  •  2014 Blue Book 



e. Changes to the plans must comply with applicable state and 
local laws. 

If the residential designer does not obtain permission to make changes 
or modifications to the plans, he must redesign the project. The 
residential designer should be aware of possible copyright issues 
and may want to contact an attorney for legal advice. 

RD-4 May a building official make changes to plans prepared by a 
residential designer? 

A building official may only make minor changes or modifications to 
technical documents prepared by a residential designer if that 
residential designer consents and authorizes the changes. 

RD-5. May a residential designer prepare and stamp site grading and 
drainage plans as part of a submittal for a permit? 

Yes, if acceptable to the authority having jurisdiction, such plans 
may be prepared or stamped by architects, landscape architects, 
residential designers or civil engineers. Land surveyors may prepare 
or stamp site grading and drainage plans as long as they are for 
residential subdivisions containing four lots or less. 

RD-6. May a residential designer serve as the principal design 
professional on a multi-disciplined project? 

Yes. Architects, registered interior designers, landscape architects, 
residential designers and engineers may serve as the principal design 
professional, as long as they are providing services in conformance 
with their practice as defined in NRS. This role is described in the 
“Principal Design Professional” section of this manual. 

RD-7. May a residential designer stamp landscaping plans and irrigation 
plans in the state of Nevada? 

Yes. Landscape architects, architects, residential designers and civil 
engineers may stamp landscaping plans and irrigation plans in 
Nevada. 

RD-8. May a drafting firm or other unregistered person prepare plans 
to be submitted for a building permit? 

No, unless they are working under the responsible control of a 
licensed or registered design professional, per NRS 623 or 625. 

2014 Blue Book  • 57 



RD-9. May a residential designer prepare and stamp documents 
customarily prepared by a licensed engineer? 

Yes. As long as the work is performed in a competent manner, a 
residential designer registered under the provisions of NRS 623, 
and who practices as permitted by NRS 623, may provide all 
engineering plans for his own projects. 

RD-10. May a residential designer design a single-family residence that 
is more than two stories in height? 

Yes. 

RD-11. May a residential designer perform work on a residence that is 
being converted into solely a commercial property? 

No. 

RD-12. Is a residential designer, who is an employee of a licensed general 
contractor, required to stamp plans he has prepared for his 
employer when the plans are being submitted to the building 
department under the contractors’ exemption? 

No, as long as the residential designer receives a W-2, and not a 
1099, from his employer. 

RD-13. Is a residential designer, who contracts with a licensed general 
contractor, required to stamp plans he has prepared when the 
plans are being submitted to the building department under the 
contractors’ exemption? 

Yes. 

RD-14. Is a residential designer, who is hired directly by the owner to 
design a set of plans for a single-family residence, required to 
stamp the plans if the owner is pulling the permit? 

Yes. 

RD-15. Must each sheet of a residential designer’s set of plans have an 
original or electronic seal and signature? 

Yes. 

58  •  2014 Blue Book 



RD-16. May a residential designer seal his drawings with an electronic 
stamp, signature and date? 

Yes. Residential designers may seal their documents either 
electronically or manually. They may also sign and date by hand, 
electronically or any combination thereof. The date must be the day 
the drawings were issued for printing. 

RD-17. Are residential designers required to seal bid documents? 

No. Per NRS 623.185, only plans, specifications, reports and other 
documents issued by a registrant for official use must be signed, 
sealed and dated. Bid documents are not considered to be for official 
use. 

RD-18. Is it acceptable for original plans to be in microfiche or electronic 
format? 

Yes. 

RD-19. May a residential designer withdraw as the design professional 
of record? 

The residential designer may withdraw as the design professional of 
record if he becomes aware of a decision made by his employer or 
client, against the residential designer’s advice, which violates 
applicable federal, state or municipal building laws and regulations 
and which will, in the residential designer’s judgment, materially or 
adversely affect the safety of the public. 

RD-20. Do drawings prepared by a design professional (architect, 
registered interior designer or residential designer) belong to 
the design professional? 

Yes. Drawings prepared by a design professional have copyright 
protection under federal law and belong to the design professional 
of firm, unless the design professional or firm releases the copyright/ 
intellectual property to the client. 

RD-21. May a residential designer release modifiable CADD drawings to 
a client? 

Yes. 

2014 Blue Book  • 59 



HOMEOWNER 

Homeowner, as used in these questions and answers, is an owner of property 
who prepares his own plans, drawings or specifications for a building for his 
own private residential use, and who is building or improving a residential 
structure on the property for his own occupancy that is not intended for sale 
or lease. Architect, registered interior designer or residential designer, as 
used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada registrant, per NRS 623, 
unless noted otherwise. Engineer or land surveyor, as used in these questions 
and answers, is a Nevada licensee, per NRS 625, unless otherwise noted. 
Contractor, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada licensed 
contractor, per NRS 624, unless noted otherwise. Landscape architect, as 
used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada registered landscape 
architect, per NRS 623A, unless noted otherwise. 

H-1. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or 
his representative, to perform the services of an architect, 
registered interior designer, landscape architect, contractor or 
engineer for work on that building without being licensed under 
NRS 623, 623A, 624 or 625? 

No. 

H-2. If a homeowner obtains a building permit under the owner/builder 
exemption, can he then hire a contractor to perform the 
construction activity? 

Yes, if the contractor is properly licensed in Nevada to perform the 
work. This exemption only applies to the construction or remodeling 
of a single-family residential structure occupied, or to be occupied, 
by the homeowner. 

H-3. May a contractor prepare plans and then have the owner obtain 
the building permit under the owner/builder exemption? 

No. The contractor must apply for the permit, thereby attesting that 
he is properly licensed and responsible for the plans and construction 
activity. Per NRS 623.330(1)(d), a contractor can only prepare plans 
for his own construction activities. 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

60  •  2014 Blue Book 



H-4. Who is considered an “owner/builder?” 

A homeowner who prepares his own plans, drawings or specifications 
for a building for his own private residential use and who is building 
or improving a residential structure on the property for his own 
occupancy and not intended for sale or lease may apply for an 
exemption from the provisions of NRS 623 and NRS 624. 

H-5. May a homeowner prepare plans under the NRS 623.330(1)(e) 
and 623A.070(1)(a) exemptions for a duplex residential occupancy 
structure? 

No, he may only prepare plans for a single-family dwelling that he 
himself plans to own and occupy for at least one year. A duplex 
clearly implies that at least one unit will be a rental or sales property. 

H-6. May a contractor or homeowner submit mail order plans or 
plans prepared by others and  comply with Nevada law? 

No. 

H-7. May a homeowner hire a draftsman to draw plans for his home? 

No. Only architects, residential designers and some professional 
engineers may design and draw plans for homes. Licensed general 
contractors may also design and draw plans for homes if they will be 
building the home as well. A homeowner who does not wish to hire a 
properly registered or licensed individual must draw the plans for his 
home himself. 

H-8. May a homeowner design their own home and then hire a 
draftsman to put plans into CADD or another electronic format? 

No. 

H-9. May a homeowner as an  "owner/builder" perform work in the 
public right-of-way? 

No. 

2014 Blue Book  • 61 



MISCELLANEOUS 

Architect, registered interior designer or residential designer, as used in 
these questions and answers, is a Nevada registrant, per NRS 623, unless 
noted otherwise. Engineer or land surveyor, as used in these questions and 
answers, is a Nevada licensee, per NRS 625, unless otherwise noted. 
Contractor, as used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada licensed 
contractor, per NRS 624, unless noted otherwise. Landscape architect, as 
used in these questions and answers, is a Nevada registered landscape 
architect, per NRS 623A, unless noted otherwise. 

M-1. Do shop drawings have to be stamped by the principal design 
professional and submitted to the building official for approval? 

No. However, there are some instances where shop drawings could be 
used as a part of the construction documents, therefore requiring a 
professional’s stamp. For example, a truss or space frame dimensionally 
shown on the construction document, specified by performance, must 
be submitted to the building department bearing the stamp of a Nevada 
licensee. 

M-2. What component or supplemental designs are required to be 
stamped or sealed by a design professional when submitted to the 
building official for approval? 

Components or supplemental designs such as prefabricated metal 
building drawings, roof truss systems (complete systems) drawings, 
post tension or prestress designs, alternates to the original submittal, 
component or system substitutions which substantially change the 
scope of work or code application and precast concrete building 
components must be submitted to the building official for approval. 

M-3. May a land surveyor prepare and submit plot plans? 

Yes, with conditions. Land surveyors may only prepare plot plans which 
provide topographical and related measurement data. Plans which 
include design features for construction must comply with the standards 
of a registered professional. 

FREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLFREQUENTLY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESY ASKED QUESTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS 

62  •  2014 Blue Book 



M-4. Who can prepare or stamp site grading and drainage plans as part 
of a submittal for a permit? 

If acceptable by the authority having jurisdiction, such plans may be 
prepared or stamped by architects, landscape architects, residential 
designers or civil engineers. Land surveyors may prepare or stamp 
site grading and drainage plans as long as they are for residential 
subdivisions containing four lots or less. 

M-5. May an unregistered or unlicensed individual (interior designer, 
space planner, kitchen equipment designer, etc.) prepare plans for 
a building permit? 

No. Unregistered or unlicensed individuals are prohibited by law from 
engaging in professional practice, unless specifically exempt by law. 

M-6. May a drafting firm or other unregistered person prepare plans to 
be submitted for a building permit? 

No, unless that person is working under the responsible control of a 
licensed or registered design professional, per NRS 623 or 625. 

M-7. When can an unregistered individual provide design services for 
the selection of interior furnishings, fixtures and equipment? 

A non-registrant can provide design services when the furnishings, 
fixtures and equipment selected are not regulated by any building code 
or other law, ordinance rule or regulation governing the alteration or 
construction of a structure. 

M-8. May individuals calling themselves landscape architect interns or 
landscape designers prepare and sell landscape and irrigation 
plans? 

No. It is illegal to prepare and sell landscape documents if one is not 
registered or licensed to practice landscape architecture, architecture 
or engineering in Nevada. 

M-9. May any general building contractor or owner hire unlicensed 
individuals to perform construction work? 

No, all contractors, including subcontractors, must be properly licensed 
contractors in the state of Nevada at the time the work is bid and when 
it is performed. 

2014 Blue Book  • 63 



M-10. Are local jurisdictions required to verify a contractor’s license 
prior to issuance of a permit? 

Yes. Any city or county which requires issuance of a permit shall 
require a written, signed statement from a licensed contractor that 
he is properly licensed, the number of the license and that it is in full 
force and effect. 

M-11. Is it legal for the owner or tenant of a commercial building, or 
his representative, to perform the services of an architect, 
registered interior designer, engineer, landscape architect or 
contractor for work on that building without being licensed under 
NRS 623, 623A, 624 or 625? 

No. 

M-12. Who is considered an “owner/builder?” 

A homeowner who prepares his own plans, drawings or specifications 
for a building for his own private residential use and who is building 
or improving a residential structure on the property for his own 
occupancy and not intended for sale or lease may apply for an 
exemption from the provisions of NRS 623 and NRS 624. 

M-13. If a homeowner obtains a building permit under the owner/builder 
exemption, can he then hire a contractor to perform the 
construction activity? 

Yes, if the contractor is properly licensed in Nevada to perform work. 
This exemption only applies to the construction or remodeling of a 
single-family residential structure occupied, or to be occupied, by 
the homeowner. 

M-14. May a contractor prepare plans and then have the owner obtain 
the building permit under the owner/builder exemption? 

No. The contractor must apply for the permit, thereby attesting that 
he is properly licensed and responsible for the plans and construction 
activity. Per NRS 623.330.1(d), a contractor can only prepare plans 
for his own construction activities. 

M-15. May a homeowner prepare plans under the NRS 623.330(1)(e) 
and 623A.070(1)(a) exemptions for a duplex residential occupancy 
structure? 

64  •  2014 Blue Book 



No, he may only prepare plans for a single-family dwelling that he 
himself plans to own and occupy for at least one year. A duplex 
clearly implies that at least one unit will be a rental or sales property. 

M-16. May a contractor or homeowner submit mail order plans or 
plans prepared by others and comply with Nevada law? 

No. 

M-17. May a homeowner hire a draftsman to draw plans for his home? 

No. Only architects, residential designers and some professional 
engineers may design and draw plans for homes. Licensed general 
contractors may also design and draw plans for homes if they will be 
building the home as well. A homeowner who does not wish to hire a 
properly registered or licensed individual must draw the plans for his 
home himself. 

M-18. Other than the building, zoning and public works departments, 
do any other agencies need to review plans before a building 
permit or approval to proceed can be issued? 

It varies on the type of project and the requirements of the jurisdiction 
where the project is located. Check with the approving authority. As 
an example, the State Fire Marshal’s Division and State Health 
Department must review health care facilities. The local health district 
may review plans for any food service facility or public swimming 
pool, and may need to approve demolition permits due to dust 
pollution, asbestos abatement, fuel tanks, etc. Fire protection elements 
and alarm systems may be reviewed separately by the Fire 
Department. Sanitation, sewage and water supply are other factors 
that may require review or separate permits. 

M-19. Where do I obtain a building permit for construction activities 
on state property? 

Construction work is governed and permitted upon review and 
approval of the plans by the State Public Works Division. A building 
permit from the State Public Works Division is required. Payment of 
plan review, inspection and permit fees are required. For specifics, 

2014 Blue Book  • 65 



contact the State Public Works Division. 

M-20. Do local building authorities have jurisdiction on state lands? 

No. The State Public Works Division is the building authority. 

M-21. Does the State Public Works Division inspect school 
construction? 

No. The State Public Works Division only has plan review authority 
when requested. 

M-22. Who reviews and inspects construction activities of privately 
owned buildings and facilities on state land? 

The State Public Works Division is the building authority. 

M-23. What is the definition of a “design-build” contract? 

Design-build contract means a contract between an owner or public 
body and a design-build team in which the design-build team agrees 
to design and construct a project. 

The Legislature enacted laws to permit public bodies to contract with 
a design-build team or specialty contractor for the design and 
construction of a public work or other project. 

M-24. When is a design-build contract used for a public works project? 

The use of the design-build approach for public works is regulated 
pursuant to NRS 338. In general, design-build may be used only in 
situations where its use will render significant cost or time savings, 
or if the project is highly specialized and technical in nature. In 
addition, certain construction cost thresholds for differing types of 
work are set forth in the statute. Due to the variety of the specific 
conditions contained in the law, it is advised that the language be 
reviewed in its entirety prior to initiating any public project utilizing 
the design-build method of delivery. 

66  •  2014 Blue Book 



-NO-NO-NO-NO-NOTES-TES-TES-TES-TES- 

2014 Blue Book  • 67 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 1 of 19 

  Exam Revision Date: 11-1-12 
 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
NEVADA SPECIFIC EXAMINATION 

 
You have been provided with the Nevada Specific Examination for Registration by Reciprocity in the State of 
Nevada.  Formulas that may be required have been provided for you.   
 
          YOU HAVE 3 MONTHS  TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THIS EXAMINATION  
 
Read and follow the directions below.  
 
ABOUT THIS EXAM:  
 
This is a fill-in the blank and multiple-choice examination. For the multiple choice questions, you will record all of 
your answers by circling your chosen answer’s letter, (A, B, C, or D). Illegible answers will be marked as wrong.  If 
you make a mistake, please erase it thoroughly.  
 
SIGN YOUR NAME ON EACH PAGE of the examination attesting that questions are answered ONLY BY YOU. 
 
The following is a breakdown of each section of expertise being tested along with the specific numbered questions 
associated with that section is as listed below. 

 
PART I.  LOCAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
Questions # 1.1-1.59 tests a candidate’s knowledge of state specific General Information, General Building 
Conditions, Recreation, Lighting and Sustainability / Low Impact Design. 
 
PART II.  PLANTING 
Questions # 2.1-2.11 test a candidate’s knowledge of specific plants used in Nevada. 
 
PART III.  SOILS 
Questions # 3.1-3.8 test a candidate’s knowledge of soil specific to Nevada. 
 
PART IV.  WATER MANAGEMENT  
Questions # 4.1-4.40 test a candidate’s knowledge of basic hydraulics for irrigation design. 

 
PART V.  NEVADA LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
Questions # 5.1- 5.42 test a candidate’s knowledge of the State of Nevada’s Laws and Regulations in general, 
(623A), the Nevada Administrative Code for Landscape Architects, (623A), and the Blue Book – a Reference Manual 
of Nevada Law Governing Design for the Construction Industry. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
YOU HAVE 3 MONTHS TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THIS EXAMINATION 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

  



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 2 of 19 

PART I. LOCAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 
 
1.1) When specifying concrete that comes in contact with Southern Nevada soils, (i.e., footings, sidewalks), which type 
of cement should be used? 

A. Type I: general-purpose cement used for general construction such as buildings and bridges. 
B. Type III: cement that provides high strength at an early age. 
C. Type IV: cement that has a low heat hydration. 
D. Type V: cement that is sulfate resistant.  

 
1.2) What is the correct order in which deck members are sized? 

It is not important which members are sized first. 
A. Beams, joists, decking, posts, footings 
B. Decking, joists, beams, posts, footings 
C. Footings, posts, beams, joists, decking 

 
1.3) How deep (to the bottom of the footing) should concrete footings be in the Reno, Nevada area to prevent frost damage 
or heaving? 

A. 4 feet 
B. 2 feet 
C. 18 inches 
D. 1 foot 

 
1.4) Concrete achieves 95% strength after how many days of curing? 

A. 45 
B. 32 
C. 27 
D. 60 

 
1.5) What is the actual diameter of a number 4 rebar?  

A. 1/8 “ 
B. 3/8” 
C. 5/8” 
D. 1/2” 

 
1.6) Is the nominal and actual dimension of a 2” x 4” piece of lumber the same? ____________. 
 
1.7) The State of Nevada has many emblems, name the following: 

One of the two state trees  _____________________ 
State flower   _____________________  
State grass   _____________________   
State soil       _____________________ 

1.8) Name the highest elevation location in Nevada and the elevation.  _____________________ 

1.9) Name the lowest elevation location and the elevation _____________________ 

1.10) What is the origin of the state's name?   _____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 3 of 19 

1.11) The Nevada State Capitol is: 
A. Las Vegas 
B. Henderson 
C. Elko 
D. Reno 
E. Carson City 

  
1.12) The Nevada State Legislature meets: 

A. Annually for 6 months, January to June. 
B. Once every 3 years and concludes when all business has been completed 
C. Biennial for 120 days 
D. Continuously 

 
1.13) What percentage of the State is federally controlled? 

A. 87% 
B. 66% 
C. 52% 
D. 26% 

1.14) Name the two national forests in Nevada. _____________________ 

1.15) The largest natural lake in Nevada is: 
A. Lake Tahoe 
B. Lake Mead 
C. Pyramid Lake 
D. Lake Mohave 

1.16) Regarding Nevada's vast geography and climate, what are some of the most challenging concerns of a Landscape 
Architect in the State of Nevada? _______________. 

1.17) The longest river in Nevada is: 
A.       Truckee River 
B. Colorado River 
C. Walker River 
D. Humboldt River 

1.18) Regarding Nevada's vast geography and climate, what are some of the most challenging concerns of a Landscape 
Architect in the State of Nevada? _______________. 

1.19) According to Nevada State Law, a land owner is required to perform a noxious weed assessment then eradicate the 
weeds.  A form is then submitted to the Department of Agriculture for approval of eradication methods proposed.  This law 
applies to: 

A.   Public land, public utilities and railroad right-of-ways only 
B. All new proposed developments  
C. Private commercial and industrial land owners only 
D. Every owner or occupant of land  
E. A and B only 

 
 
 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 4 of 19 

 
 
1.20) The American with Disabilities Act is a comprehensive civil rights law that prevents discrimination on the basis of 
disability. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.21) The Accessible Play Areas guidelines establish maximum accessibility requirements for only newly constructed play 
areas.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.22) Play components may be manufactured or natural.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.23) Free standing slides require accessible routes to steps and at the slide exit.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.24) Designers of play components are not required to design components to foster interaction and socialization among all 
children. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
1.25) How many accessible routes are required to the following play areas; (1) composite play structure, (3) spring riders 
and a swing set with three swings. An accessible route must connect to which of the following: 

A. Two of the spring riders, two of the swings and access to two stations on the composite play 
structure. 

B. One of the spring riders, two of the swings and access to one station on the composite play 
structure. 

C. One spring rider, one swing for one of each type of ground-level play experiences which are 
present in the play area.    

D. One spring rider and two access points to the composite play structure. 
 

1.26) Ground-Level Accessible Routes requirements for maximum slope in any direction are             ____________. 
 

1.27) Ground-Level Accessible Routes require a minimum width of                        . 
 

1.28) The width of the Ground-Level Accessible Routes can to be reduces to 36-inches wide for a distance of 72-inches 
when site obstacles require a reduced width of the pathway?  

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.29) Accessible routes on top of berms should have hand rails to meet the accessible route requirements. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
1.30) Elevated accessible routes must connect the entry and exit point of at least 50 percent of the elevate pay components 
provided in the play area. 

A. True 
B. False 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 5 of 19 

 
1.31) The accessibility guidelines require that play areas containing 20 or more elevated play components should provide 
ramp access to at least 25 percent of the elevated components. 

A. True 

B. False 

1.32) Handrail extensions are not required on ADA handrails for the ramps in play areas. 
A. True 

B. False 

1.33) Reach ranges are only recommended for two age groups. 
A. True 

B. False 

 
1.34) Entry points and seats are features of play components where individuals can sit, transfer or gain access. When play 
components are located on an accessible route, the height required transferring directly to the entry point maximum and 
minimum heights are:  

A. Minimum 11-inches maximum 22-inches 
B. Minimum 12-inches maximum 24-inches 
C. Minimum 10-inches maximum 24-inches 
D. Minimum 11-inches maximum 18-inches 
E. None of the above 

 
1.35) In a park playground setting the sight lines are most import from the restroom to the play equipment.  

A. True 
B. False  

 
1.36) Conflicting activities only occur when children fight over their favorite play apparatus. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.37) Not all playground equipment requires protective surfacing. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.38) All wood fiber products are acceptable for loose surfacing materials. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.39) Children clothing does not impact the safety conditions of the playground.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
1.40) Fall zone height requirements, the six feet horizontal fall zone is acceptable for all safety surface fall zone 
requirements.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
 
 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 6 of 19 

 
1.41) When designing an outdoor 12 volt lighting system how do you choose the size of a transformer? 

A. Add up the length of footage of the wiring being used. 
B. Add the total wattage of all fixtures  
C. Add up the number of fixtures being used. 
D. Add up the number of fixtures and divide by the amps being used. 

1.42) For Outdoor 12 volt lighting, how do you select the length of cable and the gauge needed for the design? 
A. Determine the number of fixtures to be used and multiply by 12. 
B. Determine the amperage to be used. 
C. Determine the length from the transformer to the farthest fixture and use a wire chart for the 

desired wattage to be used. 
D. None of the above. 

 
1.43) What causes excessive voltage drop in a 12 volt outdoor lighting system? 

A. The length of wire run and the wattage load. 
B. The size of the transformer. 
C. The placement of the light fixtures. 
D. All of the above. 

 
1.44) What is the maximum allowable voltage drop in an outdoor 12 volt system? 

A. 3 volts  
B. O. 5 volts 
C. 2. 25 volts 
D. 1.5 volts 

 
1.45) What is the result of excessive voltage drop in a 12 volt outdoor lighting system? 
 

A. Overheating of the Transformer. 
B. Overheating of the wiring. 
C. Light fixtures and wiring may melt. 
D. Light fixture at the end of runs will be dimmed. 

  
1.46) Rainwater catchment system tanks should be located a minimum of _______ feet from a building foundation: 

A.  5’ 

B. 10’ 

C. 15’ 

D. None of the above 

 

1.47) Filter fabric should not be installed at the base of bio retention systems. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 7 of 19 

1.48) Bio retention systems consist of vegetated areas with porous engineered soils. These systems are designed to capture 
and treat urban runoff, Bio retention systems include the following: 

 
(a) landscape detention and rain gardens 
(b) detention basins 
(c) roof top gardens 

 

A. (a) and (b)  

B. (b) and (c) 

C. (a) and (c)  

D. (a),(b) and (c)  

1.49) Sustainability is quality of not being harmful to the environment or depleting natural resources, and thereby 
supporting long-term ecological balance.  Sustainability can be local or global in nature.  What statement below best 
describes Carbon Footprint? 

A. Carbon footprint describes the environmental impact of carbon emissions, measured in  
       units of carbon dioxide.  

B. It is a measure of the amount of carbon dioxide produced by a person, organization, or 
       location at a given time. 
C. Is related to amount of land cleared and the resulting carbon impact caused by the loss 
       of vegetation.   
D. The size of the cleared area is the defined footprint. 
E. When carbon is released into the atmosphere the balance of atmospheric chemistry is 
       altered.   
F. The controlled release of sulfur dioxide alters the atmospheric chemistry and provides  
       an equilibrium known as the carbon footprint. 

 
1.50) Bio retention systems are also known as: 

A. Storm water planters 

B. Porous landscape detention 

C. Tree box filters 

D. All of the above  

1.51) Bio retention systems should include an engineered soil mix installed to a minimum depth of: 
A. 12” 

B. 18” 

C. 24” 

D. 30” 

1.52) Filter fabric should not be installed at the base of bio retention systems. 
        A. True 

       B. False 

1.53) To provide adequate contact time for pollutant removal the minimum length of an L.I.D. swale should be: 
A.   50’ 

B. 100’ 

C. 200’ 

D. 250’ 

 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 8 of 19 

1.54) Porous concrete and asphalt are ideal for medium to heavy duty applications. 
A. True 

B. False 

1.55) Which of the following is not a suitable paver for L.I.D. applications? 
A. Flagstone pavers 

B. Turf block pavers 

C. Concrete block pavers 

D. Brick Pavers 

1.56) Permeable pavers should not be used in: 
        A. Utility access areas 

       B. Driveways 

       C. Disabled parking spaces 

       D. Overflow parking areas 

1.57) The term “Ecoroof” refers to: 
A. Usable garden space that includes some vegetation 

B. A lightweight vegetated roof system 

C. A living roof 

D. A vegetated roof 

1.58) Which is not a component of a green roof: 
A. Reduces heat island effect 

B. Filters sediment and pollutants 

C. Increases evapotranspiration 

D. Reduces urban runoff at its source 

1.59) When directing roof leader downspouts to infiltration trenches, the trenches should not be installed within 100 feet 
upslope of a building foundation. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
PART II. PLANTING  
 
2.1) This drought tolerant shrub is sometimes referred to as the barometer plant due to its profuse flowering when relative 
humidity is high. 

A. Pennisetum Setaceum – Fountain Grass 
B. Lantana Montevidensis – Trailing Lantana 
C. Oenothera Berlandiere – Mexican Evening Primrose 
D. Leucophyllum Frutescens – Texas Ranger 

 
2.2) Spider mites, spider-like pests thrive in hot, dry, dusty weather.  In Southern and Northern Nevada, they can be 
particularly damaging to Italian Cypress, Junipers, Arborvitaes and Pyracantha. 

A. True 
B. False 

  
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 9 of 19 

2.3) Name the evergreen shrub/groundcover, with pale lavender or blue flowers, a member of the mint family, is highly 
attractive to bees that should not be used around swimming pools or seating locations __________________ 

 
2.4) The best plant types for firescaping and erosion control tend to be: 

        A. Evergreen trees 
                       B. Creeping or low spreading shrubs 
          C. Large deciduous shrubs 

        D. Rabbitbrush and big Sagebrush 
 
2.5) Which plant listed below has the greatest fire resistance for plants found in Zones 4 and 5 (USDA Plant Hardiness 
Zones)? 

A. Arctostaphylos (species)  
B. Euonymus Fortunei ‘Radicans’ 
C. Lampranthus Spectabilis   
D. Myoporum Parvifolium ‘Prostrata’ 
E. Agave utahensis 
F. All of the above 

      
2.6) When selecting specific plants for southern Nevada only heat hardiness map ratings are needed to determine the 
plants suitability. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
2.7) Chaparral shrubs and trees tend to grow in an unbroken sea of dense vegetation that creates a fuel-rich avenue 
through which fire can travel unchecked.  In firescape prevention, the goal in managing the chaparral is to thin and remove 
them so the continuity is broken up to slow the fire. 

A. True 

B. False 

2.8) Evapotranspiration (ET) is the combination of water lost by evaporation into the atmosphere, from soil and soil surface, 
and by transpiration, which is the amount of water used by the plant. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
2.9) Factor(s) affecting evapotranspiration are:  

       A. Amount of available water 
       B. Temperature of soil 
       C. Wind 
       D. All of the above 
       E. None of the above 

 
2.10) Weather data can be used to predict evapotranspiration rate. 

A. True   
B. False 

 
2.11) Wind movement has major effect on evapotranspiration rates. 

A. True 

B. False 

 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 10 of 19 

PART III. SOILS 
 
3.1) In the Tahoe Basin, a slow release fertilizer is recommended for use, as it will help reduce leaching into local streams 
and lakes. 

A.   True 
B. False 

 
3.2) Plants growing in a sandy soil transpire water at a higher rate than plants in clay soils. Assume no water stress in either 
case. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
3.3) Field capacity is considered as: 

A. The amount of water available for use by the plant. 

B. The maximum amount of water held in the soil before the gravitational water has drained from 

the soil.  

C. The soil moisture content at which the plant can no longer obtain enough moisture to meet 

transpiration needs. 

D. All of the above. 

3.4) If the soil has a low intake rate, it is best to design a low precipitation rate system.  
A. True   
B. False 

 
3.5) Alkaline soils are generally found in:      

       A. Heavy rainfall area 
       B. Moderate rainfall areas 
       C. Low rainfall areas  
       D. None of the above 

 
3.6) From the list below which soil structures have the highest intake rate (i.e. permeability)? 

A. Sandy 

B. Massive 

C. Platy 

D. Silty clay loam 

E. Clay 

3.7) The coefficient of uniformity and the water application efficiency are one and the same. 
A. True   
B. False 

          
3.8) What soil amendment is commonly used to lower PH level in sodic soils with a PH of 8.0 or higher? 

A. Nitrogen 

B. Lime 

C. Gypsum  

D. Potassium 

 
 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 11 of 19 

PART IV. WATER MANAGEMENT 
 

4.1) The difference between pressure expressed as PSI or Foot Head is: 
A. PSI is a more accurate measurement than Foot Head 

B. Foot Head is more accurate 

C. Foot Head cannot be used at very high pressures 

D. There is no difference except the conversion factor 

4.2) With a friction loss factor of 1.26 PSI per 100 lin. feet, what would be the total loss in moving water in 875 lin. feet 
of pipe with no change of direction or elevation? 

A. 11.2  PSI 

B. 12.6  PSI 

C. 15.1  PSI 

D. 16.3  PSI 

4.3) Weather data can be used to predict evapotranspiration rate 
A. True 
B. False 

 
4.4) If the velocity is doubled, the friction loss caused by water movement in a pipe is also doubled.  

A.       True 
B.       False 

 
4.5) In order to insure as even an application rate as possible you should: 

A. Never valve together part circle sprinklers with full circle sprinklers. 

B. Only valve together sprinklers with matched precipitation rates. 

C. Adjust the part circle sprinklers to half their usual precipitation rate. 

4.6) Which would have the greatest friction loss if all the valves were the same size and the same quantity of water was 
flowing through them? 

A. Gate valve 

B. Angle valve 

C. Globe valve 

4.7) Using too small a wire size will: 
A. Save money 

B. Cause the valve not to open 

C. Use less electricity 

D. None of the above 

4.8) In order for a pump to lift water to the top of a tank 111’ off the ground, it must create a pressure of          ______       
PSI. 

 
4.9) If the velocity is doubled, the friction loss caused by water movement in a pipe is also doubled.  

  A. True 

  B. False 

 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 12 of 19 

4.10) Friction losses in piping systems are cumulative. When sizing pipe, particularly in turf systems, they are normally 
calculated: 

A. From the water source to the farthest sprinkler. 

B. From the farthest sprinkler to the water source. 

C. From the largest GPM discharging sprinkler to the least GPM sprinkler. 

4.11) Convert 84 PSI to feet of head                  (to the nearest whole number). 
 

4.12) In a given lateral line the maximum difference in GPM flow between the first and the last sprinkler should not exceed: 
  A.   5% 

  B. 10% 

  C. 15% 

  D. 20% 

4.13) In order to avoid lightning damage to a control system, you should: 
  A. Install line suppressors 

B. Install a grounding rod  

C. Place the controller on a concrete base 

D. All of the above 
 

4.14) Electric valve solenoids typically require 24 volts DC from the irrigation controller. 
A. True 
B. False 

 
4.15) The velocity head is the pressure required to move the water through the system. 

   A. True 
B. False 

 
4.16) An irrigation head with a high trajectory angle and one with a low trajectory angle are affected equally by 12 MPH 
winds. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
4.17) The length of the common wire is not a factor in determining wire size to valves. 

A. True 
B. False 
 

4.18) Pressure regulator valve is installed on an irrigation line to insure that the pressure on the line will remain 
relatively constant with a of variety of flow rates. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
4.19) Cavitation in pumps occur when the absolute pressure of a moving liquid is reduced to a value equal to (or below) 
the vapor pressure of the liquid. 

A.        True 
B.        False 

 
4.20) Distribution Uniformity formulas are used to estimate the variation in water application between sprinklers resulting 
from pressure variation, improper nozzle selection or lack of maintenance.  

   A. True 
   B. False 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 13 of 19 

 
4.21) In a system with a 600’ pipe run, a friction loss factor of 1.74 PSI per 100’ and a drop of 150’. The available working 
pressure at the low end of the pipe would be in excess of 50 PSI. Assume a starting pressure of (0).  

   A. True 
   B. False 

 
4.22) The landscape contractor has indicated that he could provide substantial saving to his client if he could cross connect 
a potable irrigation system along with the existing reclaimed irrigation system.  This would be appropriate as long as he 
provided the proper signage. 

   A. True 
   B. False 

 
4.23) A cross connection of potable and reclaimed systems should never be allowed since this would contaminate the 
potable water.   

                A. True 
                 B. False 

 
4.24)                                              is the measure of pressure when the water is at rest at any given location. 

A. Potential Operating Pressure 
B. Head Loss Pressure 
C. Surge Pressure 
D. Static Pressure  

 
4.25) The potential energy stored in the mass of moving water in an irrigation system is described as which of the 
following? 

A. Velocity 
B. Surge Pressure 
C. Friction Loss 
D. Dissipating Energy 

 
4.26) An increase in water velocity will increase turbulence and thus, increase the fiction loss in an irrigation pipe. 

A. True  
B. False 

 
4.27) Static water pressure can be created in two ways, elevation difference and mechanical means. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
4.28) Electrolysis corrosion caused by stray electrical currents affect steel pipe when attached directly to pipes of 
dissimilar metals.  To prevent this problem from occurring, one should use   _______________        connection when 
joining dissimilar metals. 
 
4.29) Working pressure differs from static pressure in that it varies throughout the system, due to    ______         losses 
and         ______        changes. 
 
4.30) What is the pressure increase at a point in an irrigation system that is 26 feet lower than the point of connection? 
 
_______________ 

 
4.31) What is the velocity of flow for a 1-1/4” schedule 40 PVC pipe (1.380 ID), with a flow rate of 16 GPM?   __     . 
 
4.32) Given the following, what is the velocity of flow for a 2” class 200 PVC pipe, (2.149 I.D.), with a flow rate of 35 
GPM and a working pressure of 65 PSI? ______________________.                     



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 14 of 19 

 
4.33) Calculate the closest precipitation rate for the following sprinkler in inches per hour: 12.3 GPM, no wind, 
triangular spacing, 60 foot row spacing                     . 

Formula:  GPM of 360 Arc x 96.25 (head spacing)2  x .866 
 
4.34) A drip irrigation circuit with 388 drip emitters with a flow rate of 2 GPH has a total flow of? 

A. 776 GPM 
B. 194 GPM 
C. 12.93 GPM   
D. None of the above 

 
4.35) If you had 50 P.S.I. leaving the pump and the last head was 11' uphill, how much P.S.I. would be at that last head?                   
_____.  (Not counting friction loss from piping, valves and fittings) 
 
4.36) Irrigation sprinkler water distribution that creates dry circles in the middle one-third of the sprinkler patterns or 
doughnut patterns is caused by:  

A. Single nozzles 
B. Low operating pressure  
C. Rotation speed 
D. All of the above 

 
4.37) If the soil has a low intake rate, it is best to design a higher precipitation rate system.  

A. True 
B. False   
 

4.38) All electric irrigation valves are considered normally open valves, thus water pressure is maintained on top of the 
diaphragm to keep the valve open.  

A. True 
B. False 

 
4.39) Cavitation in pumps occurs when air bubbles separate the flow of water and collapse onto a pump propeller or 
valve plate. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
4.40) With equal sides running between four (4) sprinkler locations, describes which of the following irrigation design 
pattern? 

A. Elliptical Pattern 
B. Triangular Pattern 
C. Sliding Pattern 
D. Square Pattern      

 
PART V. NEVADA LAWS & REGULATIONS 

 
5.1) Complete the following sentence: The statute governing the practice of Landscape Architecture in the State of 
Nevada is considered a? 

A.        Title Act 
B.        Practice Act 
C.        Title and Practice Act 
D.        Horticulture Act 

 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 15 of 19 

5.2) Direct supervision is defined by which section of NRS623A? 
  A. 623A.010 

B. 623A.090 
C. 623A.065 
D. 623A.035 

 
5.3) The Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture consists of seven board members, appointed by the Governor, 
and shall not serve more than three terms. 

A.        True 
B. False 

 
5.4) Which NRS section governs the reinstatement of an expired certificate of registration has not been renewed within two 
years after its expiration? 

A.  NRS 623A.115. 
B. NRS 623A.270 
C. NRS 623A.200 

  D. NRS 623A.185 
. 

5.5) All advertising, including advertising in the yellow pages and on business cards by a holder of certificate of 
registration, shall include the number of his certificate of registration. 

A.        True 
B. False 

 
5.6) A certificate to practice Landscape Architecture in the State of Nevada expires and is renewable? 

A.        On the certificate holder’s birthday 
B. On the anniversary of original issue 
C. On the biannual date of original issue 
D. On June 30

th
 of each calendar year 

 
5.7) For non-compliance in the payment of court ordered child support, the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture 
may suspend a registrants license to practice. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.8) The Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture has the power to establish reasonable educational requirements for 
applicants. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
5.9) In what section of the NRS is the following statement found: ‘the employer of the applicant must submit proof 
satisfactory to the Board that the applicant completed the work experience. 

  A. NRS 623A.187 (4)  
B. NRS 623A.190 (4) 
C. NRS 623A.180 (1) (d) 
D. NRS 623A.215  

 
5.10) The duties of the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture are to? 

  A. Adopt an official seal, and enforce the provision of NRS 623A 
   B. Adopt regulations for the administration of this chapter 

C. Administer and conduct comprehensive examinations of applicants 
D. All of the above 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 16 of 19 

5.11) The General Public representative to the Board may participate in preparing or grading any examination required by 
the Board. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
NEVADA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 

 
5.12) A registrant shall notify the Board in writing within 45 days after any change of address.  The notification shall include 
both his/hers old and new address, along with a change of address notification fee. 

A. True 

B. False 
 

5.13) A registrant shall not accept compensation from more than one person for services related to the same project or 
professional employment without making full disclosure to and obtaining the express written consent of all such parties. 

A. True 

B. False 
 

5.14) Instruments of service to be submitted relating to Landscape Architecture shall be stamped dated and signed by 
the registrant who prepared them or who provided the direct supervision under which they were prepared with the 
registration expiration date also be included. 

A. True 

B. False 
 

5.15) The following statement is found in NAC 623A.480: Shall further the public health, safety and welfare and advance the 
profession constantly striving to provide the highest level of professional service and avoiding the appearance of improper 
conduct. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.16) The following statement can be found in NAC623A.070: A certificate holder shall not perform or attempt to perform a 
professional service relating to landscape architecture unless he is qualified by education and experience to perform that 
service. A certificate holder may accept employment which requires practice in a related design field if he limits his actual 
practice to those areas in which he is qualified. 

A.  True 
B.   False 
 

5.17) Product descriptions and details prepared by a manufacturer of a specific product may be integrated into 
documents prepared, stamped, dated and signed by a landscape architect if the information is incidental to the overall 
scope of the project. 

A. True 

B. False 
 

5.18) Landscape Architects licensed in the State of Nevada are required to provide advertisement(s) that: 
A. Are generally truthful 

B. Presents only the professional’s opinion of himself 

C. Represents a balanced view of all the professional’s past clients 

D. Must not be false, deceptive, or misleading. 

 
 
 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 17 of 19 

BLUE BOOK 
 

5.19 A Nevada Landscape Designer can prepare and sell landscape and irrigation plans? 
A. True 

B. False 

5.20) In Nevada, a set of plans stamped and signed by an Engineer, Architect, or Landscape Architect registered in a 
state other than Nevada, meets the requirements for a design professional in Nevada. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
5.21) May a Nevada registered Residential Designer stamp landscaping and irrigation plans? 

A. Yes 
B. No 

 
5.22) Documents submitted to building officials for permitting are required to be stamped and sealed, in order to certify 

that the registrant has discharged his responsibility to prepare documents which comply with all applicable laws 
governing the construction of the intended improvements. 

A. Yes 
B. No 

 
5.23) What Nevada registered professional cannot design civil works improvements (site evaluation, site layout and 
development, sidewalks, curb, gutter, grading and parking lot plans, and site access)? 

A. Landscape Architect 

B. Architect 

C. Residential Designer 

D. Interior Designer 

5.24) A notice of a hearing against a registrant must contain the following:  the time, place, and nature of the hearing, a 
reference to the particular sections of NRS which are involved, and previous disciplinary action taken. 

A. True 
B. False 

 
5.25) An official electronic stamp may only be obtained from the Nevada State Board of Landscape Architects. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.26) Official registrant stamps may be obtained from a local print supply house, once they receive the master layout from 
the Nevada State Board. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.27) Which of the following design professionals are allowed to stamp landscaping and irrigation plans in the state of 
Nevada? 

A. Architects 

B. Civil Engineers 

C. Landscape Architects 

D. Residential Designers 

E. All of the above 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 18 of 19 

5.28) With Conditions, a Nevada Landscape Architect can make changes to plans prepared by another Nevada registered or 
licensed professional. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.29) A Nevada Landscape Architect Intern may prepare and sell landscape and irrigation plans? 
A. True 

B. False 

5.30) A site grading and drainage plan prepared and stamped by a Nevada Landscape Architect may be submitted for a 
permit. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.31) Landscape Architects may serve as the lead design professional on a multi-disciplined project? 
A. True 

B. False 

5.32) Which professional group performs inspection of all construction or work for which a permit is required following, 
codes and ordinances both local and international? 

A. Landscape Architects 

B. Structural Engineers 

C. Building Officials  

D. Architects 

5.33) In Nevada, under the owner and contractor exemption, an owner or contractor can make changes to plans provided 
by an architect, engineer, residential designer or landscape architect. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.34) In Nevada, unlicensed individuals can use the title Landscape Designer to prepare and sell landscape and irrigation 
plans. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.35) A Nevada Landscape Architect may over stamp plans prepared by an out-of-state Landscape Architect with no 
changes made to the out-of-state Landscape Architectural drawings.  

A. True 

B. False 

5.36) A Nevada registered Landscape Architect may design a low voltage outdoor lighting system? 
A. True 

B. False 

5.37) A Nevada registered Landscape Architect may design civil improvements to a project site? 
A. True 

B. False 

5.38) A landscape architect may develop a conceptual site plan which locates the building on a project site? 
A. True 

B. False 



 

Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Nevada Specific Research Examination  

Name ___________________ Date__________________ Signature__________________________________________ 

Page 19 of 19 

5.39) A registrant shall further the public health, safety and welfare and advance the profession by constantly striving to 
provide the highest level of professional services. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.40) Materially altering the scope or objectives of the project to accomplish the project goals without the clients consent is 
permissible. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.41) Exhibiting good moral character includes not committing an act involving dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation 
while engaged in the practice of landscape architecture. 

A. True 

B. False 

5.42) A certificate holder may accept employment which requires practice in a related design field if he limits his actual 
practice to those areas in which he is qualified. 

A. True 

B. False 

 

 

 

                            END OF TEST 



Landscape Architecture (NSBLA) Proposed New Website 

Home 

 State of Nevada http://nv.gov  [external link] 

 Office of the Governor http://gov.nv.gov  [external link] 

 Privacy Policy – located at the bottom of every page. [external link] 

Board 

 Board Members http://nsbla.state.nv.us/BoardMembers.htm  

 Mission http://nsbla.state.nv.us/index.htm  

 Accomplishments (pdf) 

 L.A.I.T. (pdf) 

 Laws & Regulations  

o NAC 623A 

o NRS 623A 

o Regulation of Landscape Architecture and the Protection of Public Health, Safety and 

Welfare 

o Frequently Asked Questions 

 CLARB Definition of “Public Welfare” 

Forms http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Forms.htm  

 Application for Renewal of Registration (pdf) 

 Landscape Architect Reference Form (pdf) 

 Postgraduate Work Verification Form (pdf) 

 Application Process for Registration by Examination (pdf) 

 Application for Registration by Examination (pdf) 

 Application Process for Registration by Reciprocity (pdf) 

 Application for Registration by Reciprocity (pdf) 

 Application Process for Registration by Reciprocity CLARB Certificate (pdf) 

 L.A.R.E. Schedule and Fees 

 Change of Address Form (pdf) 

 The Blue Book (pdf) 

o link to request for Hard Copy 

 Public Playground Safety Handbook (pdf) 

 Accessible Play Areas Guidelines (pdf) 

 ADA Guidelines (pdf) 

 325 Handbook for Playground Safety (pdf) 

Registration (from drop-down menu) 

 Application Process for Registration by Examination (pdf) 

http://nv.gov/
http://gov.nv.gov/
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/BoardMembers.htm
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/index.htm
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Forms.htm


 Application for Registration by Examination (pdf) 

 Application Process for Registration by Reciprocity (pdf) 

 Application for Registration by Reciprocity (pdf) 

 Application Process for Registration by Reciprocity CLARB Certificate (pdf) 

 

Licensed Architects 

 Official List of FY2014 Registered Landscape Architects (pdf) 

 Archived Lists 
o 2014 
o 2013 
o 2012 
o 2011 
o 2009-2010 
o 2008-2009 
o 2007-2008 
o 2006-2007 
o 2005-2006 
o 2004-2005 

Meetings – Does this section need to exist?  Last meeting was August 2012 

http://nsbla.state.nv.us/MeetingSchedule.htm  

 Meeting Schedule 

 2013 – no information has been posted for the dates listed on the meeting schedule 

 2012 

Exams http://nsbla.state.nv.us/exams.htm  

Complaints http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Complaint.htm  

 FAQs 

Contact  http://nsbla.state.nv.us/index.htm  

 

 

http://nsbla.state.nv.us/MeetingSchedule.htm
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/exams.htm
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/Complaint.htm
http://nsbla.state.nv.us/index.htm












































Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Enforcement Cases 1-8-14 

 

Date Case 
Opened 

 

Case # Complaint Follow-up Current Status 

8-24-2013 13-01 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-02 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-03 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-04 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-05 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-06 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-07 Practice Without License  
Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-08 Practice Without License  
Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-09 Practice Without License  
Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-10 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-11 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

8-24-2013 13-12 Practice Without License 

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 



Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Enforcement Cases 1-8-14 

 

“Landscape Designers” page 506 

8-24-2013 13-13 Practice Without License  

Dex Las Vegas Yellow Pages 
“Landscape Designers” page 506 

To Board 1-8-14 review case; no 
action required. 

 

 


	Meeting Agenda 1-8-2014
	11-16-2013 Meeting Minutes Draft
	Executive Director Report 1-8-2014
	Balance Sheet 1-8-2014
	Profit and Loss Summary 1-8-2014
	Nevada BlueBook 2014
	Nevada State Board of Landscape Architecture Research Examination
	NSBLA Proposed Sitemap_2013-12-11
	NSBLA Web initialPkge_Wprintscreens
	001-fence
	001-FlowerGarden
	001-GardenBridge
	001-GardenGate
	001-pool
	001-roundBridge
	002-About
	003-About_Members
	004-About_Mission
	005-About_FAQs
	006-About_LAIT
	007_About_Laws
	008_About_Public Welfare Defined
	009_Forms
	010_Registration
	011_LicensedArchitects
	012_Meetings
	013_exams
	014_Complaints
	015_ComplaintForm
	016_Contact

	Enforcement Case 1-8-2014



